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Monday, April 11, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:17 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  This is day 3 of our hearing into Horizon's application for new rates, EB-20010-0131.

I understand we have preliminary matters, Mr. Sidlofsky.
Preliminary Matters:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  First of all, Horizon has provided responses to several undertakings at this point.  I've made them available to Staff and they're out on the far table there.

I can list those for you, if you would like, if that would help.

MS. HARE:  Please.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  J1.2, J1.3, J1.4, J1.7, J1.8, J2.1, J2.2.  J2.3, J2.5, J2.7.

One other undertaking I do need to mention, as well.  That's Undertaking J2.6.  That was a request for salary disclosure for the top five executives of Horizon.

Horizon has prepared that material.  It is prepared to file it in confidence.  It relates to information that is not publicly available.  Horizon, as with all LDCs in the province, is not subject to salary disclosure, so that the individuals that are on the list are not under any requirement to disclose their personal information.

These are personal records and are protect -- and those records are protected by the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

So Horizon is prepared to provide the information requested in the form that it was requested, but it will not provide that information publicly.

MS. HARE:  Are there any submissions on that issue?  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We had no warning of this.  This is the first I'm hearing of this confidentiality claim.  But my recollection is that this came up because Mr. Basilio raised the salaries of the top five people at Toronto Hydro, which is public information.  And when asked to provide the same information for their top five executives, he agreed.

I didn't hear anything at the time saying, Oh, yeah, but what's good for Toronto Hydro is not good for us, and we should have confidentiality.  He just simply agreed to provide it.

It seems to us that if the comparison is to be made -- and he's made the comparison on the public record to Toronto Hydro.  He made that comparison, not me.  And so if the comparison is already made on the public record, it should be completed on the public record.  Those are our submissions.

MS. HARE:  Any other submissions?

Okay, the Panel is going to take that under advisement and have a decision on that issue of confidentiality after break.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I believe Mr. Basilio wanted to say something about that.  Actually, just before Mr. Basilio does, could I have a moment to reply to my friend, Mr. Shepherd?

The comparison may have been made on the record yesterday -- or, excuse me, on Friday.  I would have to check to see if that was part of the in camera portion of the session.  But the comparison didn't involve any figures, to my recollection.  There were various comparisons made to Toronto Hydro, I believe, in terms of numbers of executives and how those executives and senior staff people are broken down in the organization for the purpose of determining comparisons, compensation comparisons, between the utilities.

The issue here is simply do these individuals' personal information -- or does these individuals' personal information have to be placed on the public record?  And I suggest that it does not.  There is no obligation for that.

And as I said, Mr. Shepherd will have his information.  He will have the information he requested in the form he requested it.  It will simply not be made public.

Can Mr. Shepherd make the comparison in his submissions?  As with any other confidential information, the issue will simply be structuring a submission that accommodates the confidentiality of a certain portion of that information.

There is no prejudice here, no harm.  The information is being provided as requested.  It is simply not being provided on public record.






MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Sidlofsky, I'm sorry, but we conduct our hearings in an open and transparent manner to the extent possible, and it seems to me that the public at large, including the ratepayers in Hamilton, are general -- and St. Catharines or in the Horizon area are entitled, as much as possible, to know what's going on with the utility whose rates they pay.

And we will decide what to do with this particular piece of information, but to suggest that there is no prejudice because Mr. Shepherd can make his submissions in confidence, I think, is not quite the way the Board looks at it.

We are interested in making our decisions and in conducting our processes in a way that is publicly accessible, to the absolutely greatest extent possible, and trying to do things in private is problematic, in general, for us.

So I think when you talk about prejudice, I think you have to be thinking more broadly than Mr. Shepherd's ability to make submissions.

Now, I recognize that there's a Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, and we'll consider how that might affect the situation, but to suggest there's no prejudice I think is perhaps understating the matter a little bit.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Spoel, perhaps I misspoke, but there is no prejudice to Mr. Shepherd.

MS. SPOEL:  No, fair enough.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In terms of the Board's desire to conduct its proceedings with transparency, the utility completely understands that and acknowledges that, and that's in part why, in roughly 2,000 pages in Horizon's 2011 application, only portions of two pages were redacted.

Now, coincidentally, the two pages that contained redactions contained two tables related to compensation, and one of those tables showed new hires for a series of years.  I believe it was 2009 to 2011.  That was table 4-26.  And there were redactions there because the Board accepted Horizon's position that salary disclosure is not required for the employees that were listed in that table.

Disclosure could be prejudicial for their positions in the employment marketplace, and that information was protected as personal records under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

Now, the other table was redacted due to ongoing labour negotiations, but if we could just stay with table 4-26, if the -- excuse me, if it's appropriate to protect that information in that case, then I suggest it's appropriate to take that -- to protect that information here.

In terms of protection of the ratepayer, the Board has already put those protections in place in its filing requirements in terms of the compensation tables that it requires so the ratepayer can know what he or she is paying utility staff.  There is no issue about that.

What the ratepayer doesn't necessarily have a right to know is what an individual staff person at the utility makes.

Now, Mr. Basilio, I believe, does want to provide a comment on that, if you don't mind.

MS. HARE:  No, I don't think that's appropriate.  We're not look for evidence right now.  We're talking about process and confidentiality.  Ms. Helt, though, do you have any comments about the Freedom of Information and Protection Act?

MS. HELT:  Yes, I do.  And I think it would be helpful, as well, if Mr. Sidlofsky did provide a copy of the document to the parties and to the Panel Members to see what exactly it is he is asking to have held in confidence.  There are certain requirements under the -- under FIPPA with respect to personal records and personal information, and the Board does have a practice of not putting personal information of parties on the -- third parties on the public record.

But again, I think it would be helpful if we had an opportunity to look at the document, to consider what exactly it is that Mr. Sidlofsky is asking to be held in confidence, because as Member Spoel pointed out, the Board's process is very much focussed on ensuring that the record is as transparent as possible.

So I think there are the competing interests that need to be considered.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  K2.6.  I've got it.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not as quick as Mr. Shepherd, so I'm sorry I didn't speak up earlier, because I've just been mulling this over.

And my recollection is that this information came through the company in response to my cross-examination on Table 4-26, which was the "Total compensation" table, which obviously doesn't disclose individual salaries; it discloses salaries based on the aggregate of the total number of people in a particular class.

And I was -- if you recall, I did my cross on that basis.  And then in response to that cross-examination, the company felt it necessary, presumably, to support its position to point to the individual salaries of Toronto Hydro on the record.

And it's following that line of -- I guess I'll call it defence, that Mr. Shepherd then asked for the individual salaries for Horizon, for comparison.

And I bring that up because I think it may be important to consider how that particular -- how that played out, because, I agree, normally we go ahead on the total compensation table the way it's presented.  We don't talk about individual salaries; we talk about the group and we talk about average annual salaries per class.  And if you recall my cross, I never really responded to the information that was given to me.  I was more concerned about proceeding on the basis of the total-compensation way of producing the evidence.

But it was the company, through this evidence-in-chief -- or, sorry, in response, to produce voluntarily the Toronto numbers on an individual basis, in order, presumably, to defend their position.

Having done that, they've made that issue relevant to the proceeding.  And that's why I think maybe Mr. Shepherd's right.  In order to make -- that part of the comparison's on the public record.  We have on the public record a position from the company that says:  Well, look at what Toronto Hydro individually makes.  And presumably, you're supposed to draw conclusions from that.

But then they're asking for the second half of that equation to be put on the private record.  So you do have -- and I think it's from Ms. Spoel's talking about the rest of Hamilton looking on on the hearing -- they're going to be seeing on the public record a claim that Toronto Hydro is making X amount of dollars per individual person, and presumably they're supposed to draw implications from that, but then not being able to see the comparison in order to make sure that there's actual -– there's an actually meat to that argument in defence of their compensation package.

So in summary, it wasn't the intervenors making that approach relevant to the case; it was the company that made that relevant.

And having made it relevant and having half of the equation on the public record, it may not be appropriate to put the other half of the equation in confidence.

So again, I apologize for not speaking up earlier.  And presumably, you may want to have Mr. Sidlofsky respond to it.  But I'm not as quick as Mr. Shepherd, as I said.

Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Looks like Mr. Crocker has something to add.

MR. CROCKER:  I just want to make sure that our client's position is on the record in front of the Board.

I think the predisposition should be to make information public.

I'm not saying anything new; I'm repeating things that others have said.  But that's our position, and I think that's the position with which you should start your review of this information, and in fact, the same position that we're suggesting, with respect, you should start your review of the information that we're going to discuss shortly.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, would you like to respond?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, I would.

Madam Chair, I don't believe that the context in which this was discussed was focussing on individual salaries.  In fact, when Mr. Basilio was asked about this at pages 40 and 41 of the transcript, that was -- it was during Mr. Buonaguro's cross-examination, and what he -- what Mr. Basilio mentioned was that there was total compensation and comparative compensation.

There was a discussion about what are referred to as large-E executives versus small-E executives or directors, and how those are distinguished between the utilities.

And Mr. Basilio mentioned that Toronto Hydro had just published its annual information form, available on SEDAR.  And what he went on to say was that the -- for the top five named executive officers, compensation aggregated approximately 1.9 million.  There were five named executive officers for an average of $373,785.

He then went on to look at the entire executive team for Horizon Utilities, and that aggregated to 1.6 million, for an average of $232,533.

Mr. Basilio was comparing apples to apples, or trying to compare apples to apples.  He was not dealing with individual executive salaries during his evidence.  He was simply –- he was simply comparing totals, and aggregate -- excuse me, totals and averages.

He was asked for the information for the top five executives; he gave that.  There's nothing inconsistent with his answers during the hearing, in keeping that personal information, those personal records, confidential.  He did not discuss individual salaries for Toronto Hydro executive members.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Let's move on to your next matter.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  I should ask, though, in terms of the undertakings, does that complete all of the undertakings?  Is there anything still outstanding?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It does not.  There are a few more outstanding.

J1.5 and J1.6 were answered orally last week.  So that leaves J1.1, J2.4.  J2.6 is being discussed now, and J1.9 outstanding.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Horizon is working on answers to those.

One other thing I should mention, because it should really be marked as an exhibit, is Exhibit 3 -- I suppose it would be 3.1 today, K3.1.  It's a table of impacts, rate and bill impacts.

You may recall from my opening comments that I had said that Horizon was working on a revised table based on the most recent update to their evidence from last week.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that table has now been prepared.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  All right, just to confirm for the record, then, we will mark as Exhibit K3.1 a document provided by Horizon entitled:  "Bill impacts monthly consumptions".
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1: DOCUMENT ENTITLED "BILL IMPACTS MONTHLY CONSUMPTIONS."

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, if I could just ask Mr. Sidlofsky for a clarification with respect to the answers to the undertakings, my question is:  When do you think you will be able to provide an answer to the Undertaking J2.4?  Because that is the update to table 4-25 with respect to the 2009 budget and the 2010 actuals, which provide some of the information in aggregate, which is relevant to the issue that's been raised by you this morning.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I know that Horizon staff have been working on that.  I expect it is going to be coming out today, a bit later today.  I'm just not exactly sure at this point.

There was a lot of -- there was a lot of work done to produce the responses that have been produced to this point, and they are still working on that one.

MS. HARE:  I understand, Mr. Sidlofsky, you have another matter to raise?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I do, Madam Chair, and I've asked that this matter be dealt with in camera.

MS. HARE:  No, we'd like to hear the matter on the public record, for the reasons, Mr. Sidlofsky, that we discussed last week, and then Ms. Spoel went over with you this morning.  We believe that you can make your submission on the public record.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, over the course of this weekend, it has been determined that there was miscommunication between me and my client Horizon with respect to the approach that would be taken to the Board's decision on confidentiality for March 30th.

And, in particular, that miscommunication related to the treatment of the Board's findings on confidentiality of load forecast information for -- well, load forecast-related portions of the updated evidence.

And, as you know, last week we provided unredacted, updated large-use customer load forecast information on the public record, in compliance with the Board's decision on confidentiality.  The Board determined that that information should be public, and it was provided.

Prior to that, we had -- I had prepared two letters related to this matter, and one of them was, of course, the letter that was filed.  And the other one was a letter requesting that the Board review its decision on confidentiality.

And as a result of that miscommunication, the approach that was taken was of providing that information on the record, on the public record.  And I have since determined that there was a disconnect or miscommunication with my client on the issue of the approach to be taken here and, in the absence of that, the material would not have been released at that time.

It would have -- the review motion would have gone forward and the material would have remained confidential, at least for the time being.

I can tell you what the basis for the review request would have been.  It would have been that the --


MS. HARE:  Are you actually making a motion for review of the decision now?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, Madam Chair, the difficulty is the material is on the public record, and I acknowledge that.  And I also acknowledge it is difficult to bring this back once it is out there.  So, no, this isn't a motion for review of that decision, because it seems that it would be difficult to deal with a motion of that kind at this point.

What I am suggesting, though, is that if there was an error in disclosing that information, at least at the time that it was disclosed, it would be appropriate to avoid compounding that error by releasing that information or allowing that information to remain as potentially widely distributed as it could be now.

So, regrettably, the fact is that certain large-use customer information is on the public record, and that is consistent with the Board's decision.  And we can't take that back, but what we can propose is a number of measures to try and limit the spread of that information to the extent that's now possible.

And among those measures, the Board could immediately remove the unredacted material from its website.  Parties would treat the material as confidential information from today forward so that they would not -- parties to this proceeding would not provide it to anyone who has not signed the Board's form of confidentiality undertaking.

There is no suggestion that intervenors' counsel or representatives would be in any way responsible for the dissemination of the information prior to today or prior to the Board's ruling on this.  And cross-examination related to large use forecast information would take place in camera.

And in this regard, I do expect that there may be portions that would have to be in camera, in any event, because the utility won't be in a position to answer questions on forward-looking information with respect to large user loads.  Aside from the fact that that would be speculative, it does raise additional issues regarding commercially sensitive information and its release publicly.

I should note that no party had opposed the confidentiality request when it was initially made.

And those are my comments at this point, Madam Chair.  I do acknowledge that the material is out there.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, it's my understanding that when you filed in August, you filed information on a per-customer basis, and that's been on the public record since August; is that not correct?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is correct, Madam Chair, and in fact that was noted in my letter from last week, that similar information - at this point it was two -- it would be two-year-old information, was inadvertently filed on the public record; that's correct.

The issue is simply compounding that oversight with more current commercially sensitive information.

MS. HARE:  That August information included a forecast for 2011, as well, though.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It did, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  It did.  And so the update is newer information.  Is it not possible to examine, in aggregate, and compare that information that was filed in August to the update without referring to specific companies?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I believe it is.  And I frankly don't know that there will be a great amount of interest on the part of any of my friends in cross-examining on information related to specific companies.

What I would ask, though, is that, if at all possible, those companies not be referred to by name.  I think it's possible to deal with these by simply referring to them by number on the transcript.

So, to answer your question, yes, I believe it is possible to do that, and that would also address the potential concern for having the cross-examination on an in camera basis, which means that essentially the cross-examination I think could be almost entirely in public if we're dealing with aggregate information.

MS. HARE:  So there are a couple areas that I would like to hear submissions from the parties.  One is the issue of withdrawing something that is already on the public record and the appropriateness of that, and then the second issue is whether or not the cross-examination couldn't be done in an aggregate basis.

Mr. Shepherd, would you like to go first?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you wish us to limit our submissions to those points or –-


MS. HARE:  No.  No, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have submissions on three points, and then we'll respond to those areas, as well.

First, the problem here - and this is now, I think, the third time.  If I'm not mistaken, this is the third time that Horizon has by mistake put -- by mistake -- put information that they wanted to be confidential on the public record.

And the reason for that, it appears to us, is that Horizon has claimed confidential treatment of, it appears to us, about more than 200 documents in this proceeding, certainly far in excess of any other proceeding I've ever been in.

And that makes it hard for everybody.  It makes it hard for the Board, it makes it hard for the intervenors, and, guess what?  It makes it hard for the applicant, as well, to keep track of everything and make sure they get everything right, and so there are consequences to that.

The consequence is sometimes you make mistakes.  The Board should be pleased with the fact that, so far, intervenors have shown that they can make mistakes, as I can attest personally.  It's not that funny.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we've seen that applicants have shown that they can make mistakes.  The Board hasn't yet made any mistakes and blabbed any confidential information, but that will come sooner or later, I expect; maybe not Board Members, but Board Staff, probably.

But what I am surprised at in this context is that on Thursday, when this material was tabled, there were at least ten people from Horizon in the room, including a senior vice-president and the vice-president of regulatory affairs, counsel all over the place, advisors all over the place.

Nobody noticed that they'd decided something different?  I don't understand that.

So that's my first comment.

Second thing is I believe the law is clear, and unfortunately I haven't been able go find a case yet, but I will.  If the Board would like me to, I will.  But I believe the law is crystal-clear on the law of confidential information, that once something is made public, it cannot be protected by confidentiality.

I think it's a House of Lords case.  It was 30 years ago that I read it, so I don't remember all the exact details.

But I believe there's case law on this, and I've asked somebody back in my office to see if they can find it, but they haven't got it yet.  But I will provide it as soon as I can find it.

But in any case, it seems fairly obvious that -- and certainly as a matter of commercial practice, if you put something out in the public -- in this case, it was on the website for some days and people like EnWin and others who were interested in this proceeding presumably have already downloaded it.  It's no longer confidential.

It may have been a good idea to make it confidential before, although clearly the Board didn't think so, and we agree.  But now it's too late to lock that barn door; the horses are out.

So that's the second thing, the second comment we would make.

The third comment we would make is this.  If my friend is unhappy with the Board's decision on this point -- if my friend is unhappy with the Board's decision on this point, then there is a process, a motion for review, that can be started.  And it may be too late for that, as he points out.  It is public already.  But if he wants to make it confidential, I don't see how he can do it without overturning the Board's decision.  The Board has made a decision; it has to be overturned for it -- and there's a process for that.

One of the implications of that process is that he has to provide notice.  This hearing would clearly have to be delayed if anybody's going to use this material.  And because of that delay, there may be an argument that rates have to be delayed too, which will cost the Applicant some money.

Those are the consequences if that's what he wants.  There isn't a shortcut, in our view.  There isn't a shortcut to a motion to review.  A 4 a.m. e-mail is not a motion to review.

Those are our submissions.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Perhaps we can go next, because this primarily relates to our clients.

I don't think this -- whether or not there was miscommunication between solicitor and client is an issue here at all.  What happened, happened, for whatever reason.

We were surprised when the material was filed in this way, but not so troubled by it that we felt the need to intervene and suggest it should be done differently.  As I indicated earlier in our submissions, we take the position that as often as possible material should be dealt with in the -- publicly, not privately, not confidentially, and we think this material should be dealt with that way, particularly since it's been in the public record for as long as it has.

My friend's submission with respect to -- my friend Mr. Sidlofsky's submission about limiting the spread of the information, I don't think is reasonable at this point.  I don't think it would have any impact one way or the other to the fact that the information has been in the public sector for as long as it has been.

We have received no comment from anybody with respect to this information.  That -- I don't think you should assume from that that the parties involved -- that is the companies involved -- necessarily have seen this, but we haven't received any feedback with respect to it at all.

We agree with Mr. Shepherd that if there is to be a change in the way this is to be treated and the Board is petitioned to change its decision, that should be done formally, by way of a review.

Our cross-examination is generally dealing with issues in the aggregate.  However, a small piece of it and -- a small piece of it deals with particular companies and particular calculations made with respect to that, to those companies.  And we have included in our compendium, which you will receive when we do a cross-examination, the specific references to those companies.  That would have to be redone.

To summarize, our position is that the information should be considered on the record, should continue to be considered on the record and treated that way.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I'll make my submission on the first -- sorry, the second part of your question first, which is what to do going forward.

And I think from our part, I can help the Board by saying that my cross-examination on load forecast, as far as I can tell, wouldn't delve into the specifics of any specific customer in the large-use class.  It isn't relying at all on any reference to the material that's being claimed now as confidential.

So as a practical matter, I could do my cross on panel 3 without -- regardless of the Board's decision on confidentiality.  My cross, I believe, would be on the record.

With respect to the first part of your question, and I'm not sure if it's a submission or me thinking out loud, but I've been trying to puzzle through why it would be the case that once -- as Mr. Shepherd says -- once something has been disclosed on the record, it's crystal-clear that the cat's out of the bag - if I can put it one way - and there's no way to roll it back.

And the example I come up with -- and I don't mean to pick on EnWin, but I know that EnWin's been here, and it's my understanding they're not actually a party to the proceeding, they're an observer.  They've left the room, obviously, for panel 3, because they haven't signed any confidentiality -- well, they may not be interested in panel 3, but I know they left the room wherever there was a confidential cross, for example.

So the question that leaps to my mind is if the Board were to now order that those exhibits or that particular exhibit -- I think it's the one exhibit we're talking about -- were confidential, and the parties to the proceeding, like VECC or SEC or Energy Probe, were suddenly subject to confidentiality terms with respect to that information, but people who aren't even parties to the proceeding are not subject to the same rules, it seems counterintuitive to me.

I mean, normally we would get confidential information because we are parties and then be subject to certain restrictions in terms of using that, but that's a privilege we get for being able to access information.

Because the information's already been put on the public record, there is a potential -- and again, I don't mean to pick on them, but EnWin is a clear example, since we know they've been in the room and are interested in the proceeding.  They would have access to what would then be confidential information, but have no restrictions on their use of it.

So suddenly the burdens have been flipped; they're getting the benefit with none of the burden, whereas we're getting the burden with none of the benefit, if I can put it that way.

So again, more me speaking off the top of my head on why it may be the case that you can't reverse things once they're on the public record, but that, it seems intuitive to me that that that's true for that very reason.  Once it's on the public record -- and again, EnWin is a good example.

It may be purely theoretical.  It may be, and I'm sure it's true in a lot of cases, that nobody's ever accessed the RESS system to download information just for the fun of it.

[Laughter]

I can't imagine that being the case.  But in terms of how to treat this type of situation going forward -- not just in this case, but in all cases -- I think that it's important that the Board be consistent and do so based on a principled basis.

And again, off the top of my head, it seemed intuitive that once it's on the public record, there's nothing you can do about it, because then you're treating the parties unfairly with respect to the rest of the public, who may have already accessed the information.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken, did you want to make a submission?  Okay.

Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll deal with the easy question first.  We will not be cross-examining on anything that is the subject of this confidentiality discussion.

With respect to the first question, about withdrawing something that's already now on the public record, Mr. Sidlofsky has clearly acknowledged that it was filed on the public record.  He is not seeking a motion to review.  The decision is final from the Board.

So I take it, then, he is requesting a form of interim order from the Board on the grounds that he has provided, and he is seeking that the document be withdrawn from WebDrawer.

With respect to whether or not once a document is placed on the public record, if it has lost its confidence, is an interesting question.  Mr. Shepherd has argued that once it's on the public record, confidence is gone.

I think that may have generally been the case in the past.  I'm not sure.  I cannot disagree with Mr. Shepherd based on any law that I have read.  I do know, by analogy, with respect to the legal principles involved with privileged documents, which are also confidential on the basis that they're solicitor-client privileged - and the courts have always held that that is a privilege, a confidence to be protected - when those documents are disclosed, courts generally look at whether or not they have been voluntarily disclosed.

And when they consider whether or not it was voluntarily disclosed and whether or not there was a waiver, they look at three factors:  if the holder of the privilege knows of the privilege that they are foregoing; if there is a clear intention to waive the exercise of that right; and if they are aware of the result of -- the implications of what will happen with respect to that waiver.

By analogy in this case, it can be argued that it was clearly known that the documents were being put on the public record, although Mr. Sidlofsky would then take the position that that knowledge was based on a mistaken belief that those were his client's instructions.

Other factors that are considered with respect to inadvertent waiver, when a lawyer inadvertently sends the wrong document to another party, a privileged document, courts generally then look at certain factors, including the way that the documents were released, whether or not there was a prompt attempt to retrieve the documents once disclosure was discovered.  And, as Mr. Shepherd points out in this particular case, clearly it ought to have been known, in Board Staff's submission, that the documents were placed on the public record as of Thursday.  This request came in last evening.

Other factors that I would submit that the Board ought to consider are the number and nature of third parties who have become aware of the documents, and this falls in line with what Mr. Buonaguro was arguing, that it's been on the public record.  Other parties have access to these documents.  They have had access to it.  And to now then take those documents off the public record and not allow the parties to refer to them in their submissions on the transcript, on a public transcript, would in some way not be fair.

And the last two factors I think that are very important for the Board to consider are whether or not keeping these -- or now withdrawing the documents from the public record and placing them in the confidential sphere will create any type of actual or perceived unfairness to any of the parties; and whether or not, if there is an unfairness, how will that impact on the process of this Board, this tribunal, going forward?  And, again, this is similar to what Mr. Buonaguro was arguing.

The Board does have a process for dealing with confidential material.  It's expected that parties follow it.  Mistakes do happen when there's an inadvertent release of documents.  Depending on whether or not it's the actual party who has that information and is requesting confidentiality discloses it, or if it's disclosed by one of the other parties, the Board has processes for dealing with those particular situations.

This is a very unusual situation, in that the request has come forward, you know, a few days after -- the decision, in fact, on confidentiality was released on March 30th.  The parties have five business days to consider whether or not to withdraw the information or to put it on the public record.

A decision was made, and, again, with respect to Mr. Sidlofsky, it was based on a miscommunication, but a decision was made to put it on the public record and it sits there now.

So I think this Panel does have the discretion, if it so chooses, to make an interim order to request that the documentation be removed from the public record pending further submissions from the parties, or that the Panel can make that decision at this point in time.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Sidlofsky, would you like to respond to the submissions made?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, I think there are two periods that we're dealing with here, from the sound of all of the submissions.  The first period would be the period leading up to the filing of the material.  The second period would be where we go from here.

And in terms of -- perhaps I could deal with the second one first.  In terms of where we go from here, it sounds like it's possible to move forward with minimal use of customer-specific information.  So that it appears, from the comments of my friends, that for the most part they won't be making specific reference to customers, and their lines of questioning will generally be more based on aggregate information.

And I think that can be a reasonable approach, given that it limits the risk of disclosing further customer information.

The concern with the first period, or the material already on the record in the first period, is simply with limiting its potential spread.  I understand my friend Mr. Buonaguro's comments that it would be odd to have a party that was in the room or that pulled the material off the web in a different position with respect to the Board's requirements than Mr. Buonaguro would be, who acts for a party to the proceeding.

But I suggest that it's not unreasonable to, at a minimum, take the material down from the Board's website.  That really doesn't mean it's not in the public domain.  The material is still available.  It's simply not posted.

And as I said previously with respect to what happens going forward, it would be possible for the Board to direct parties to limit their references to specific customers, if there are questions about specific customers' loads, in a manner that allows for maintaining confidentiality going forward with respect to commercial -- sensitive commercial customer information.

I do reiterate my request, as I mentioned before, with respect to the treatment of this material as confidential.  But, as I said, I do acknowledge that the material is on the public record at this point.

Those are my comments, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

The Board is going to take a break.  We will actually make this our morning break, as well, then, and return at 10:30.


--- Recess taken at 10:06 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:45 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.
Ruling:


MS. HARE:  With respect to Undertaking J2.6, the Board has had the opportunity to consider the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.  Section 42 of that Act states that the Board:

"...shall not disclose personal information in its custody or under its control except in a limited number of circumstances."

The Board does not find that any of these exceptions apply in this case.  If the Board were to receive this information, we would have to keep it in confidence and not disclose it, including to parties who have signed confidentiality undertakings.

The Board will therefore not accept the undertaking response as drafted.

The Board requests for the public record the aggregated total compensation of the top five executives without any names.

So Mr. Sidlofsky, the Board asked to see the undertaking response.  It actually was never filed.  So we ask that copies be returned to you, and that you file a new version of that undertaking response.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Horizon has made a request of the Board to remove documents filed by Horizon in relation to load forecast-related portions of the updated evidence.

Mr. Sidlofsky has confirmed that he voluntarily filed unredacted, updated large-use customer load information on the public record at the commencement of the hearing, based on the Board's decision on confidentiality issued March 30th, 2011, wherein it determined that this information remained public.

Or Horizon could have requested to withdraw that information within five business days from the issuance of the decision.

In his submission, Mr. Sidlofsky made it clear that this is not a motion-to-review request, but a request to have the information withdrawn from WebDrawer and made confidential.

In considering this request, the Panel heard submissions from the parties and Board Staff, and notes the following.

The Board has been informed by the test relating to the release of privileged documents, and finds this to be a useful decision framework to guide the Board's discretion in this situation.

The Board notes that this document is an update of a document filed in August 2010, which Horizon has made no attempt to withdraw or treat as confidential.

The time for withdrawal of this updated information, pursuant to the Board's Decision on confidentiality, expired on April 6th.

The documents were filed publicly by Horizon at the commencement of the Horizon hearing, April 7th, 2011.  None of the numerous Horizon executives present at the proceeding objected to the filing of the information.

The Board is concerned that a broad number of parties who are not intervenors may have exercised their right to access this document on the public record, and removing this document from the public record may be unfair to the intervenors present in this proceeding.

Furthermore, the Board is concerned about the possible impact of this unfairness on the overall integrity of the Board's process.

Therefore, the Board will not order that it be removed from the public record.  However, the Board requests parties, to the extent possible, to not refer to individual companies by name during cross-examination.

With that, we are ready to have panel 3 sworn.

MR. SIDLOFSKY: Madam Chair, two new people on panel 3.
HORIZON UTILITIES - PANEL 3


Grant Brooker, Sworn


Bruce Bacon, Sworn

John G. Basilio, Previously Sworn


Indy J. Butany-DeSouza, Previously Sworn


Sarah Hughes, Previously Sworn


Eileen Campbell, Previously Sworn


MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, I have had some preliminary discussions with the intervenors, and I understand the order of the intervenors is going to be Mr. Buonaguro is going to proceed first with his cross-examination, to be followed by Mr. Aiken, Mr. Crocker, Ms. Girvan, Board Staff, and then Mr. Shepherd.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Sidlofsky, are you ready to introduce your panel?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So with the other witnesses, Mr. Basilio, Ms. Butany-DeSouza, Ms. Hughes, Ms. Campbell, and two new members, Grant Brooker and Bruce Bacon, that's panel 3, the final panel for Horizon in this proceeding.

The Board has Mr. Brooker's and Mr. Bacon's CVs, and I'll simply introduce those two members.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Brooker, you're the manager of regulatory compliance for Horizon Utilities?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you have been with Horizon for how long?

MR. BROOKER:  A year and a half.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you're a chartered accountant?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  A member of the Institutes of Charter Accountants of both Ontario and Saskatchewan,; correct?

MR. BROOKER:  No, just Ontario and Canada.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, Ontario and Canada.

And your responsibility in this application was?

MR. BROOKER:  I'm support to all of the individuals that are involved in the application, primarily with the models.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Bacon, you're a senior utility rate design consultant with Borden Ladner Gervais LLP?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a bachelor of science in math, and I understand you have over 30 years now of experience in rate design?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you typically work with utilities in preparing their distribution rate applications?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And prior to that, I understand that you worked with Ontario Hydro and TransCanada Pipelines; correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I did.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibility on the panel?

MR. BACON:  I have assisted Horizon in the preparation of the load forecast, along with the cost allocation and rate design sections of the application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.

Madam Chair, the panel is now ready for cross.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  If I could have the presentation system activated, to PC11?

MS. HARE:  Oh.  I don't know how to do that...

[System activated]

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Okay, good morning, panel.  I'm going to be starting with a load forecast question or series of questions, and I'm going to be starting -- actually talking about the large users but, as I've said, I think my cross doesn't touch upon any of the material we've been talking about today.  So I don't think I have to be too, too careful, but we'll see.

I'd like to start first by understanding specifically how the forecast for large users was developed, and how and why it changed in the March update, all right?

Now, as I understand it, in the original application at Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 2, page 15 -- and you'll see I've put up the updated application here, but my understanding is that from the original application, the 2010 load forecast for large users was based on the actual megawatt-hours and billing kilowatts for 2009, and then you increased these numbers by the percentage increase seen in the first six months of 2010 over the same period in 2009.  Is that generally true?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, am I correct in assuming that this calculation was done separately for the increase in megawatt-hours and the billing kilowatts?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when we talk about -- and this is at page 15 of the original application, I believe.  When we talk about a 25.14 percent increase, is that for the billing kilowatt-hours or for the megawatt-hours?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, did you mean for the kilowatts versus megawatt-hours?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. BROOKER:  It's kilowatts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then in the original application, you assumed that the 2011 large use energy and billing kilowatts would be the same as in the 2010 -- would be the same as in 2010, and we know that from that table 3-23 in the original application, I believe?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then looking at that table -- and this is the original 3-23 I'm putting up on the screen, which is Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 2, page 16.  And you can see there it's filed August 28th, 2010, so it's the original.

Can you confirm for me that the 693.7 gigawatt-hours that I've highlighted on the table for 2010 and 2011 represents the energy associated with large users who are non-market participants?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you also confirm that the billing kilowatts represented on the table here represent the kilowatts for all customers, including market participants?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, turning to the updated evidence, and that's what I originally had here -- and, again, this is Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 2, page 15 of the updated evidence.

As we understand it, the load forecast for 2010 was updated to reflect the 2010 actual sales to large users and that this value is 704.1 gigawatt-hours, which is slightly higher than the forecast of 693.7 gigawatt-hours?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  However, the actual kilowatt values are less?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think we can see that on the revised table 3-23?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that this means there is an implicit change in the load profile for the large user class as between the original application and the update?

I think that's because even though the gigawatt-hours go up, the billing kilowatt values are going down.  So that would suggest that there's a load profile change implicit in there somewhere.

MR. BACON:  I would agree what that, subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, am I correct in saying that except for the customers that are specifically discussed in the update -- and I won't refer to them specifically, but putting those customers aside, for the balance of the large users, for the purposes of the update, have you assumed that their 2011 energy and billing demands are the same as their 2010 actual values?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's right, with the exception of the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  The three.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Three.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  And that for the three customers, the forecast for 2011 is as described in the update?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, again, can you confirm that the kilowatts reported for 20011 in the revised table 3-23, which I have up here -- is that associated with all large users, including the market participants?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, it is.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, can you agree with me that between the original and the updated application, which we can see, I guess, summarized in these two tables on the screen because we have the original table 3-23 and we have the revised table 3-23 on the same page, that the 2011 gigawatt-hours have decreased by approximately 25 percent and that the 2011 billing kilowatts have decreased by a similar percentage, around 21 percent?  Can you agree with that, subject to checking the math?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now I'm going to turn to the response to VECC No. 44(c).  And here you show the 2011 forecast -- I should say before I start, VECC 44(c) is on the updated evidence, so it's the most recent round of IRs.

Here you show the 2011 forecast for large user gigawatt-hours, including and excluding market participants.  And if you're looking at the table, including market participants, the value in the large user energy forecast in the original application was reported at 1,458.8 gigawatt-hours.

Now, but if you turn to VECC 38(d), which I'll pull up for you, the original forecast -- and, again, this is still an interrogatory on the revised evidence.  If you turn back to VECC 38(d), the original forecast for large use energy, including market participants, is reported at 1,515.6 gigawatt-hours.

Can you reconcile the difference between these two numbers and can you tell me which one is correct?  So what I've identified here is two instances where you're ostensibly showing us what the gigawatt-hours are for large use for the same -- on the same basis, i.e., the original application, but there's two different numbers.

So I'm trying to figure out which one is the correct number, or, if they're different numbers, why they're different numbers.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm sorry, we can't reconcile the difference at this time, but we would be happy to take an undertaking to provide a response --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- to reconcile the two.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J3.1.  And for clarity on the record, Mr. Buonaguro, can you please just restate the undertaking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO RECONCILE THE FIGURE IN 44(C), A 2011 FORECAST FOR LARGE USE GIGAWATT-HOURS, OF 1,458.8 GIGAWATT-HOURS VERSUS THE ANSWER AT VECC 38(D) OF 1,515.6 GIGAWATT-HOURS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The undertaking is to reconcile the figure in 44(c), a 2011 forecast for large use gigawatt-hours, of 1,458.8 gigawatt-hours versus the answer at VECC 38(d), which suggests that the original forecast for large use energy was 1,515.6 gigawatt-hours.  Okay?

Now, can you confirm for me that the updated total energy forecast for large users, including market participants -- which we can see at the updated Table 3-23 -- if we're using the 1,458.8 gigawatt-hour figure as being the original and then we're showing the change from the original, the changes from 1,458.8 gigawatt-hours is only approximately 8 percent less than the forecast in the original application?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Can you restate the difference?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  So if we assume that the original, the correct original number which you're going to check for me, if the correct original number was 1,458.8 gigawatt-hours, and your updated figure -- oh, do I?

Sorry, I just have the wrong reference up.  44(c).  Sorry.  Sorry about that.  My thanks to Mr. Aiken.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm glad that my confusion was related to perhaps something that was on the screen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My resume on load forecasting isn't as good as the panel's.  I'm sorry.

So if we use the 1,458 figure in the original application, which this table at VECC 44(c) shows, and the difference between that in the revised application for the gigawatt-hours of 1.348, the difference between the two numbers is approximately 8 percent?  It is only 8 percent less than the original forecast?

MR. BROOKER:  Subject to check, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And that if we replaced the 1,458 number with the 1,515.6 gigawatt-hours, which is part of the reconciliation that you're working on, even if we use that number, we're talking about 11 percent decrease, approximately?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Can you explain why the energy for the large-user class, including the market participants, would show a decrease of approximately 8 percent to 11 percent, based on the -- what could be one or the other number, from the original application, whereas the billing demands for these customers show a change of 21 percent?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BACON:  We're going to have to take an undertaking on this, but we suspect there's been, obviously, a change in the load factor from one year to the next or from one time period to the next.

We're going to have to analyze that and get back to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I just your -- I guess it would be an educated guess, is that's what would do it, but you don't know exactly where that change occurred.

Is that what you're trying to get at the undertaking?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll take that undertaking.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO EXPLAIN WHY ENERGY USE OF LARGE-USER CLASS, INCLUDING MARKET PARTICIPANTS, DECREASED BY EIGHT TO 11 percent, BUT BILLING DEMANDS FOR THESE CUSTOMERS SHOW A CHANGE OF 21 percent.

MR. BACON:  And just to confirm, the undertaking is to reconcile the fact that the gigawatt-hours have decreased by, you said, something around 11 percent?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, depending on which is the appropriate original application figure, it's either 8 percent or 11 percent.

MR. BACON:  True, but then comparing to the change in kilowatts, which was the number that you suggested was 21 percent?

MR. BUONAGURO:  21 percent, yes.

MR. BACON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I'm going to move to questions, again, with respect to load forecast, but here I'm not talking about the large users; I'm talking about the rest of the load forecast.

And I'm going to be starting specifically with the historical CDM values that were used in the regression analysis.

MR. BACON:  Yes.  Do you have a reference?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm getting there.  Thank you.

I'm going to be starting with Undertaking JT1.2.

And looking at this response, on the first page -- and I've highlighted sections of it -- it appears here that the company acknowledges that:

"With an equipment life of four years, CFL savings achieved through 2006 OPA programs would no longer be available in 2010 and 2011."

And then you go on to say that:

"Accordingly the 12,813 megawatt-hours associated with the CFL should be removed from the CDM variable for 2010/2011."

Do you see that?

MS. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then if you go over the page of JT1.2, it appears to us that you're saying the opposite, and take the position that since the life has been updated to eight years by the OPA, these savings should be included to the forecast CDM activity for 2010/2011.

And I'm wondering if the company could clarify the position it's taking with respect to these assumptions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just a small technical problem.  The monitor closer to the panel isn't working, so Ms. Campbell is over here with me.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  Mr. Sidlofsky, I actually am a bit concerned about how much conferring is going on.  If the panel doesn't know the answer, it's better to take an undertaking, and let's move on.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Understood, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  So if you can answer the question, please do.

MR. BACON:  Let me try to answer the question.

I believe what this is saying is that in the LRAM application, it already reflected the four-year expected life.

Can I have that confirmed by...

Okay.  I think we need to take an undertaking on this.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Buonaguro, if you could restate the request for the record, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm going to give a fulsome description to make sure I understand it.  This might help you with the discussion I think we're going to have to have in any event.

In JT1.2, there appears to be two positions.

First, that because CFLs installed in 2006 were assumed to have an equipment life of four years, they would no longer have any impact on 2010 and 2011, and therefore the 12,813 megawatts associated -- or megawatt-hours associated with CFL should be removed from the CDM variable.

At the same time, however, the company indicates in JT1.2 that the assumptions for CFLs in 2006 were updated to an expected life of eight years, which suggests that the -- presumably, I'm taking from the response, that there's no need to update the amounts associated with CFLs in the regression analysis, because they would have an effect in 2010 and 2011.

And my question is:  What is the position of the company?  Which of those two positions are they going to take, because either one has different impacts on the load forecast?

MR. BACON:  Okay, I understand your question.  The CFL assumption of four years was in the OPA programs.  The CFL assumption on the third tranche was already on the eight years.  There's two components to the CDM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BACON:  There's the third tranche component and the OPA program component.  The OPA program component was the one that we updated, and so the third tranche component was already on the eight-year life cycle.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what you're telling me is that the impact of CFLs installed in 2006 appear in two different ways in your load correction?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  First, on a four-year -- on a four-year life cycle, and second on an eight-year cycle, depending on whether or not they were in an OPA program or a third tranche program?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is notwithstanding the fact that we're talking about the same lightbulbs, as a matter of fact, I think?

MR. BACON:  You know what?  We better take an undertaking on this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BACON:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. BACON:  I don't want to waste the Board's time.

MS. HELT:  So that will be then undertaking J3.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  To RECONCILE THE COMPANY'S POSITION WITH RESPECT TO CFL'S IN ITS LOAD FORECAST IN REFERENCE TO ITS ANSWER AT JT1.2


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think what you're telling me is that in terms of the load regression, then, both things exist.  There's a subset of one and a subset of the other, and they're both affecting your regression analysis?

MR. BACON:  We'll address that in the undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I guess this has become part of the undertaking.  My understanding, and this is from parts of the evidence, is that - and perhaps you can confirm, that in changing the assumptions for CFLs from four years to eight years, there was also a change in the savings, the kilowatt-hour savings associated with CFLs, from 104 kilowatt-hours to roughly 43 kilowatt-hours annually?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so as part of the undertaking, when you're looking into this, can you tell me that where - it appears at four years you're using the 104 kilowatt-hours in the regression analysis for the purposes of doing your load forecast, but where it appears as an eight-year lifespan, you were using a corresponding 43 kilowatt-hours number?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that something you can confirm now or is that something that has to be part of the undertaking?

MR. BACON:  We'll confirm that, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Now, can you confirm that the OPA has recently provided you with a report regarding the final 2006 to 2009 conservation results?  And that's mentioned in VECC No. 2(b).

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, we can.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that actual report on the record?  And, if not, could you file a copy?  I think some of the results may be in part (b).  I'm not sure the actual report has been filed.

MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm not sure if the report has been filed, but yes, we can file a copy.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J2.4 -- or 3.4, excuse me.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO FILE COPY OF REPORT REFERRED TO IN VECC INTERROGATORY NO. 2(B).

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, lastly, could you confirm, if it's not explicitly in the report -- I think it will be in the report, but can you tell me what the latest OPA report shows in terms of the persistence of 2006 programs regarding CFLs in the years 2010 and 2011, or is that something I'll just find in the report when I get it?

MS. CAMPBELL:  We could highlight that from the report.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  We can make that part of the same undertaking.  Thank you.

Now, sticking with VECC No. 2 that I have on the screen, and dealing with part (a) of the response, here you set out the historical CDM savings used in the regression analysis to develop the forecast model; is that a fair summary?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's -- I'm -- can you just take me to the right source?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. BACON:  Okay.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then at page 3 of the response, it shows us that the values are based on the OPA's final 2006 to 2008 conservation results for Horizon, and the 2009 values were based on the expectation of 2009 results at the time the application was prepared?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, am I correct that since then, the OPA has provided updated results?  And I think this is what I've just asked for.  We now know that there are updated results which you're now providing by way of undertaking; correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would it be fair to say that the more recent OPA report, which we're getting by way of undertaking, not only contains the actual reported results for 2009, but also revised values for the savings for 2009 and 2008?

MS. CAMPBELL:  The report does contain updated results, but I'm not clear -- sorry, on your second point you're asking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean, it basically tells you what they believe actually happened in 2006 to 2008.  It's re-looked at 2006 to 2008 and is saying, These are the savings that we're seeing in 2006 to 2008?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Correct.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in VECC 37(e), which I won't pull up, it's the -- and there was a revised copy of that filed as part of the first day of the hearing.  That was the undertaking that asked you to identify any updates or changes you are proposing.  And we noted that while the large user load forecast was referenced, there was no reference to adopting any changes to the non-large use load forecasts.

Can you confirm that Horizon proposes to continue to use its original load forecast for non-large use load?  Is that true?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so you're not, for example, updating the regression model for any of the new data that we've been talking about?

MR. BACON:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you're not revising your CDM activity forecasts for 2010/2011 based on the OPA's most recent report?

MR. BACON:  Not in the update, no, we did not do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's not the position of the company, essentially --


MR. BACON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:   -- that there should be an update?  Can you tell me why the company wouldn't propose to make such updates?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, my arms just aren't long enough at times.

The position of the company would be, in light of the OPA report, which we've undertaken to provide, that as it makes sense, we would update accordingly.  But I would take the Board back to the framing of the response to VECC 37(e), which was the response to the revised load forecast.  And there was a limitation, if you will, around the nature of those updates.

So it is not a matter of we did update something and we didn't update another thing.  Those things that we were certain about and had already responded to in interrogatories or subsequent exchanges that were confirmed, those parameters were the nature of the update in VECC 37(e).

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you read the interrogatory, you didn't think that it meant this type of update, which you hadn't yet settled on?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that's what you're telling me.  Okay, that's fair enough.  But I think you're now saying that you will look at the report and make updates?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We will look at the report and --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you're going to -- part of the undertaking for the report, then --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- then recognize accordingly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you -- is to identify, having read the report, in view of our conversation on the record, you're going to tell me which updates you're now proposing to make or not make?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  And just to be clear, then, that will be part of Undertaking J3.4?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I'm going to ask some questions about the CDM activity variable that was used.

And here I'm pulling up Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1.

Our understanding from this is that you use your load forecast model to explain or predict monthly purchases, which are then summed to yield the annual forecast?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you confirm that the CDM activity variable used in your analysis represents the cumulative annual savings from previous years, plus the cumulative monthly savings for the year in question?

And I'll give an example, so that I understand what I just said.

So, for example, for February of 2008, the CDM activity variable would equal the sum of the annual savings from 2005 to 2007 programs that are continuing to persist in 2008, plus two-twelfths, since February is the second month of the year, of the savings from the 2008 programs?

MR. BACON:  It's the savings from programs in the year, accumulated in each year on a monthly basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you restating what I said, or are you disagreeing with what I said?

MR. BACON:  I'm just trying to clarify how it's done.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  Bottom line is if you achieve CDM savings from new programs in a particular year, we had to take that number, we divide it by 12, and we accumulate that each month.  And then the next year, we will take the year-end amount from the previous year and add on one-twelfth of the CDM savings from new programs in that year.

I just -- my concern was with the word "accumulative".

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That's what I'm trying to specifically understand, to make sure I understand the math correctly.

So again, going back to the example of February 2008, at the end of 2007, you will have had -- you have annual savings for 2005, '06, '07, for CDM programs?

MR. BACON:  From new CDM programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In those years?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And so you're adding up -- my understanding -- and maybe this is where I'm starting to clarify something.

For February, you say:  Okay, we add up the total year for 2005 for the new programs, the total year for 2006, '07.  So you have three years of full annual savings from programs; right?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then -- I think this is what you told me -- you take -- then you take two-twelfths of the 2008 programs; is that right?

MR. BACON:  The new programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Of the new programs for 2008?

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You tack that on to the total three-year annual savings for the previous three years?

MR. BACON:  From new programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  From new programs?

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you say "new programs" programs -- not programs that existed in 2004, for example?  The new programs in 2005, the new programs in 2006?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the new programs in 2007?

And then what do you do with it?

So you've got the three full years' savings, plus two-twelfths of the 2008 program, so you have a total figure which is essentially 3.1 years of new programs' worth of savings, or something like that.  Three plus two-twelfths of annual savings; that's a big number, isn't it?

MR. BACON:  Well, no, because it represents the savings in new programs since 2006.

Like, you have savings in 2006 from new programs.  Then you add on the savings from new programs in 2007.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm.

MR. BACON:  And then the portion in 2008 which is from new programs, two-twelfths.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BACON:  So what you do is you see what -- the concept of the CDM activity variable is to show increases in activity in CDM.  That's the purpose of it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I have to admit that I'm still not sure if we're agreeing on how it's done, based on my example versus how you restated it, or whether you're disagreeing with me.

As it seems to us that if you're trying to look at the monthly variable for February of 2008, and for that variable you're taking all of the annual savings from new programs for '05, '06 and '07, and tacking on two-twelfths of the annual savings for 2008, you're maybe materially overstating the activity in February of 2008.

And what I want you to do is explain to me why I'm wrong.

MR. BACON:  The activity up to the end of 2007 essentially represents -- it represents the savings that Horizon has achieved up to 2007, period.

And then we add on to that, specifically, two-twelfths of the additional activity in the year, which we represent comes from the additional programs in 2008.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm?

MR. BACON:  So I look at it as up to 2007, year-end 2007 is essentially the amount of savings that has accumulated up to 2007.  So that's an indication of activity.

And then for the two months of 2008, we take two-twelfths of additional programs in 2008.  We don't -- and add that to that, to give an indication of a level of activity, movement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for February of 2008, using our example, you're saying that what you're capturing, then, is not just the new activity for February of 2008 based on the forecast of new programs for 2008, but you're also capturing the persistence of all the previous years' programs?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.  I will agree you there.  That's correct, the reason being, as we believe, the persistence from previous years' impacts on the activity in the year -- in the month, sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think the consequence of doing it that way, though, is that you're assuming that the activity in February of 2008, isn't it the -- aren't you giving it credit for three years of savings, all in one month?

MR. BACON:  Possibly, but I believe the regression analysis takes that into consideration.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  Because the coefficient on that variable is 0.37.  So he's taking that variable and basically taking 37 percent of it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm?

MR. BACON:  To make the regression -- the regression analysis is taking 37 percent of that variable to make the regression analysis work.

And it also has a very good T-stat, so it indicates to me that the actual variable itself, I would agree with you, might be on the high side, but the regression analysis is correcting that by only taking 37 percent of it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying that that second step, that 37 percent factor, takes that initial variable and recalculates it into something that you see as reasonable for the one month's worth of new activity.

MR. BACON:  Yes, because what it's doing is it takes 37 percent of it, but it also has a very good T-stat, which says it's a variable that is contributing to the purchasing, the purchase data.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think I referred in the technical conference to my brain outside the --


MR. BACON:  Yes, I understand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- of the hearing.  And I think I got enough on the record from him on that issue.  So once you started to go into T-stat, I started to glaze over a little bit, I have to admit.

But no, thank you for that.  I think I got my answer.

Now, in terms of -- and this is a similar topic, but slightly different.  Our understanding -- and this is from Board Staff No. 12, which I'll put up, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 12 -- our understanding is that at the time of the application, the preliminary CDM target that was set for Horizon as part of the -- your four-year target was 301 gigawatt-hours; is that correct?  Of cumulative energy savings over the period 2011 to 2014?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then can you confirm that you set your 2011 CDM activity level at 25 percent of this target, or 75.25 gigawatt-hours?

And again, we got that from Board Staff No. 12.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, that's correct, for 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then our understanding is that your approved CDM target has changed in the interim, and we got that from VECC number 4, VECC Interrogatory No. 4.  And so instead of 301 gigawatt-hours, your new target is 281.42 gigawatt-hours?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that to date the load forecast has not been updated to reflect the revised target?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I want to spend a minute to understand Horizon's interpretation of cumulative energy over 2011 to 2014, i.e., how you interpret the target.  And to do so, I am going to outline two different interpretations, and you can tell me which one you agree with, assuming there are only two.  Hopefully there are only two.

The first interpretation is that cumulative energy savings over 2011 to 2014 represents the energy savings that will be in place in the year 2014 based on programs offered in 2011 through 2014, with persistent savings that continue to exist in 2014.

So based on this interpretation and 100 percent persistence of all your programs over the course of that year, the CDM target could be achieved if new programs implemented in each of the four years achieved savings equal to 25 percent of the target.

Put another way, at the end of 2014, you will have programs with a total annual persistence in 2014 of your target, and you got there by putting in 25 percent of those programs each year.

It's the -- I think it's the very -- it's the most -- I don't know how to say -- the most aggressive interpretation of your target, I think is one way to put it.

And then the second interpretation would be that cumulative energy savings over 2011 to 2014 represents the sum total of the savings reported in each of the four years from that years' programs, plus the savings persisting in that year from previous years' programs.

So this is the less aggressive interpretation, where at the end of 2014 the persisting programs wouldn't equal your target, but the total savings achieved throughout the years would have achieved your target.

So my first question:  Which of those interpretations are you -- is Horizon following in terms of its planning?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We're of the first camp, I guess would be the best way to characterize it.  And I'm not sure that it's necessarily an aggressive approach, but I would offer that at the time of the preparation of the load forecast, based on the available information that we had at that time, the load forecast reflected that which we thought we could achieve, as well as putting forward a load forecast that would endure over the four-year period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  When I said "aggressive", I didn't mean it in any particular way.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, and I'm not taking --


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's just -- it's the interpretation that sees the activity required by Horizon to be at its greatest, as opposed to the other information that I posited.

In order to achieve your target under the first interpretation, you have to do a lot more in terms of CDM than you have to do to meet your target under the second interpretation.  I think that's fair to say?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm not sure it is.  And with these comments, I will hand over to my colleague Eileen Campbell.  But I think what I would offer is that it takes an approach, but, in the alternative, you're assuming a specific -- and if I'm interpreting the second approach correctly, you're assuming a specific ramp-up period, if you will, so that a lower level is achieved in year 1, but in subsequent years there being a greater ramp-up, which I'm not sure we would support necessarily accept as reflective of our situation, if I'm interpreting --


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I just -- my original -- I don't think my second interpretation assumes anything with respect to ramp-up.  I think the difference between the two interpretations informs how much you're expected to actually do.

So, for example, under the first interpretation, at the end of 2014, as a result of CDM activity --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- towards meeting your target, you will have achieved -- if you include all the actual savings that your programs are producing, you will have actually achieved much more than 301 -- under your old target, much more actual savings of more than 301 gigawatt-hours versus the second interpretation, which means that if you were to measure your actual savings as a result of the programs that you implemented over the relevant period, if you meet 301 gigawatt-hours of total savings, you will have met your target.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the difference between the two, and then how you do it would be different.  It's a different issue, but in terms of what you're obligated to do under your target, these are the two different ways of viewing it.  And you're telling me that it's the first view that you took in terms of load forecasting, for example?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.  So we've taken the first approach, but, as I said, I would offer that I'm sure my colleague Ms. Campbell would have additional remarks.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So we did take the first approach to load forecasting, as Ms. Butany-DeSouza has said.  But when we put together -- when Horizon put together our CDM strategy, we put together our strategy based on market analysis of our own customer base.  We engaged Navigant to assist us with this business planning, and we put our strategy together based on achievables.

And the CDM strategy that was filed with the Board in November, and further updated in February with budgets, indicates that in 2011 we estimated to achieve 92 gigawatt-hours of savings.

To date, we have actually in just one program alone, the commercial ERIP program -- we have applications on file, potentially the majority of them, that are actually pre-approved applications, for a total savings of 95.4 gigawatts.

We -- notwithstanding that these -- the results for Q1 have not been through the EM&V process, though we don't know what that process looks like, our internal records are indicating that we are on track to achieve this, and in Q1 we have achieved 23.83 gigawatt-hours through the commercial program.

So our strategy and our estimates was based on achievables, and we are confident that we will be achieving the 92 gigawatt-hours of savings in 2011, which 75 was used in the load forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I think you're telling me is that, from your perspective, it doesn't matter what interpretation you used.  You have a CDM strategy for 2011 in which you're going to achieve X amount of gigawatt-hour savings regardless?

MS. CAMPBELL:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, just to go back to close off in terms of the interpretation question, can you tell me if you have any particular basis for this interpretation outside of Horizon?  In particular, I'm wondering if there is any direction, specific direction, from the OPA, for example, that they explained to you how you were supposed to achieve your targets?

MS. CAMPBELL:  No, we did not receive any specific direction from the OPA.  In fact, I think there is some confusion as to how targets were to be achieved, and, also, as far as the business planning, there were some tools released by the OPA after the business planning process had actually taken place within Horizon.

So we did not go back to use the OPA tools.  We had our strategy in place at that time with a significant amount of work invested in it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now I'm going to move to Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 2, page 3 of the revised application.  And I think we've talked a little bit about this.

And you see I've highlighted on the screen the 0.37 factor that we talked about earlier.  Can you see that?

So this part of the exhibit, it sets out the prediction model that you used to forecast monthly purchases; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is excluding large users; right?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And as you pointed out before, and as I've highlighted on the screen, the coefficient for CDM activity is negative 0.37 percent; is that right?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we assume that means that for every one gigawatt-hour increase in the monthly CDM activity variable, there would be a 0.37 gigawatt-hour or 370 megawatt-hours decrease in the forecast level of purchases for the month?

MR. BACON:  That's what the regression analysis is saying, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, as we've just discussed, in the current forecast you've assumed incremental annual CDM savings of 75.25 gigawatt-hours for 2011 in the forecast?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that if the 2011 forecast of annual CDM savings was to increase by a further 12 gigawatt-hours, then the January CDM activity variable would increase by one gigawatt-hour, the February by 2 gigawatt-hours, and so on, with December's value increasing by 12 gigawatt-hours?  I think that's --


MR. BACON:  Can you repeat that again, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  If the 2011 forecast of annual CDM savings was to increase by a further 12 gigawatt-hours, then the January CDM activity variable would increase by one gigawatt-hour, then February by two gigawatt-hours, the March by 3 gigawatt-hours, and so on, with December's value increasing by 12 gigawatt-hours?

And I can --


MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I can give you a reference.  We understand that from OEB Staff Interrogatory No. 12, at page 3.  I don't know if I –- give you a minute to turn it up, just to check.

I think it has to do with this section.  For all other months, one-twelfth of the 75.25 gigawatt-hours was added to the previous month.  We talked about this a little bit.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we're talking about 12, then one-twelfth of that is one, two-twelfths is two, and so on, so thank you.

And as a result, can we conclude that the monthly value of CDM variables for 2011, using the same example, would increase by a total of 78?  I.e., if you take that one, plus two, plus three, plus four throughout the year, you would get a total of 78 gigawatt-hours, and that using the analysis that you have in your model, there would be a 28.8 gigawatt-hour reduction in purchases, so you would take your negative 0.37 percent coefficient, times the 78 gigawatt-hours' increase for the year, and you would get 28.6 gigawatt-hours?

Too much?

MR. BACON:  There's a lot of math going on there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  What I'm saying is you take your 2011 forecast, and let's assume for the purpose of argument that you were going to do an extra 12 gigawatt-hours of activity in the year.  And the way that you do your CDM activity variable means that you would take -- for January, it would be one-twelfth, so one, plus two in the second, plus three in the third, plus four in the fourth, and if we feed that information back into your model, what that means is that you would be adding one plus two plus three plus four plus five; there would be this total of 78 gigawatt-hours, which talks about -– little bit what we talked about before, about this intuitiveness that you've got a large number, and all of a sudden for -- for 2011, because you're adding --


MR. BACON:  Yeah.  78 is the right number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- 78.  But then you said, well, then you apply the coefficient --


MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- has an effect on that.  And I'm saying the effect in this particular case would be 28.6 gigawatt-hours, which means you're getting close to 30 gigawatt-hours in annual reduction of in the annual predicted purchases because of the way your analysis works.

MR. BACON:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Even though you've only actually added 12 gigawatt-hours of increased annual CDM savings.

MR. BACON:  Now I understand the question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So that sounds -- even to me, that sounds counterintuitive; add 12 gigawatts of productivity and you run it through your modeling, and you end up with 30 gigawatt-hours' reduction for the year.

So I'm trying to understand whether you think that's intuitively reasonable, and why that would be.

MR. BACON:  Well, there are two things that are possibly going on, are happening there, as well, is that there are probably CDM savings happening within the service area that actually are not measured.

What I mean by that is that there's probably an attitude of conservation going on, potentially, in the service area.  As well, I suspect -- I haven't done the analysis to do this, to confirm this, but I suspect that what's happening is there are other things within the service area that are causing reductions in load that are actually being picked up within the CDM activity variable times the -- the 0.37.

It isn't just necessarily all CDM.  It could be economic conditions, which we potentially haven't separated out as a separate variable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, because just looking at it, if all things being equal, the only thing that changes in your forecast of the year, the only thing that changes - you say:  Well, we're going to do an extra 12 gigawatt-hours of programs, and the way in which your model churns that number produces almost 30 gigawatt-hours of activity, what you're telling me is:  Well, every time we add X amount of gigawatt-hours of actual program, we get -- and I'll put it in quotes -- we get credit for more than that based on the way the model works.

And you're saying:  Well, that's okay, because you're assuming, or there's an implicit assumption somewhere in the model that one gigawatt-hour of actual programs put into the model, it's reasonable to add, basically -- I don't know if you would call it "gross it up" for its impacts on CDM generally.

Twelve gigawatt-hours of programs equals 30 gigawatts of CDM, somehow.

MR. BACON:  I guess what I'm saying is the 12 is actually measured and confirmed.  According to the regression analysis, it would suggest that there's actually more happening in the service area than what's actually measured and confirmed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But what's suggesting that is the way the model operates?

MR. BACON:  Sorry?

MR. BUONAGURO:  What is -- the thing that's suggesting that is the mathematics of the modelling?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right?  Okay.

MR. BACON:  And the fact, back to the fact, is that the variable itself has a very good T-stat.  It's actually contributing significantly to the -- well, it's contributing to the accuracy of the regression analysis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't want to give you the impression is that all you have to do is say "T-stat" and I'll stop questioning you.

[Laughter]

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it happens to be that that's the last bit of questioning on that.  I think I have what I need on the record, coincidentally.  Thank you for that.

Now I'm going to turn to a little bit of cost allocation questions, and I'm going to start here at Exhibit 7, tab 1, schedule 2, page 1.

Which basically -- I'm only putting it up there because it essentially confirms that Horizon uses the Board-approved cost allocation model; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And as we understand it, you've populated that model with 2011 costs, updated worksheets to reflect the 2011 forecast number of customers and loads, and that you've excluded the transformer ownership allowance from the costs to be allocated.  And then besides that -- well, can you confirm that that's essentially what's happening?

MR. BACON:  So far, so good.  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Besides that, can you confirm whether or not you've made any other changes to the OEB model?  More particularly, have you made any changes that could be considered improvements in the way the model allocates the costs, besides updating the load and customer data used for the allocation?

MR. BACON:  No changes in the allocation of the model.  It's strictly updating the data for 2011 costs and 2011 volumes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, just moving to page 2 of this same exhibit - so Exhibit 7, tab 1, schedule 2, page 2 - you talk here about how you updated the demand allocators used in sheet I8 of the Board's model?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it fair to say that you started with the 2004 demand allocators that were used in the original informational filing, and then for each class, you adjusted these for the change in the energy forecast for the class as between the current application and the loads used in the informational filing?

MR. BACON:  I wouldn't say that's completely correct, but I'll tell you what we did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. BACON:  For the 2004 data, there's a load profile associated with that.  For the 2004 data, there's a load profile associated with 2004 information, and we basically adjusted that load profile from 2004 for the new forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  And then as a result of that, from that new forecast -- from that new load profile, you're able to determine all the NCPs and CP values.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you explain in more detail how you adjusted the load profile?  Because our understanding is that -- and I think this isn't the only case where this would have been true, but the load profile stayed the same, but you're telling me that you actually adjusted the 2004 load profile somehow to be 2011-relevant, I think?  Is that essentially what you're telling me?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if so, can you tell me how?

MR. BACON:  Sure.  No problem.

Let's assume -- let's take an example, residential.

From the 2004 information provided by Hydro One, there's an hourly load profile that they provided each distributor, and specifically Horizon, sorry.

And that information was used for the cost allocation -- information cost allocation filings.  Boy, I get dry here.

So for instance, the residential class for 2004 had a load profile, which means there's an estimate for each hour in the year of the kilowatts, kilowatt-hours in that hour, used.

So you have basically a string of numbers that go from 1 to 8,760, which represents the hours.  So when you add all those up, that equals the kilowatt-hours assumed for 2004.  All we do is we take that -- we take that -- so if we add all those numbers up, say the number came to 1,000 in 2004, and say the new forecast was 1,200 in 2011.  All we would do is take that load profile and literally move it up by 20 percent.  Every hourly data is moved up by 20 percent, and then we recalculate.

Then from that information, we're able to determine all the values there when NCP -- all the CP and NCP numbers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, it sounds to me like what you do is you scale up --


MR. BACON:  Yes, exactly.  We scale up.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- the load profile.  But it doesn't actually change the load profile?

MR. BACON:  No, the load profile doesn't change.  Well, to the point -- we do that by class.  So the components of the total system load profile will change, and so the total system could actually change, because -- the proportions of the various classes could change because the loads change between the various classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But in terms of what you're actually doing, you're taking the 2004 data and you're --


MR. BACON:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you're just scaling up.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that --


MR. BACON:  But by class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  By class, but implicit in that is that within the class, the load profile is otherwise constant other than the scaling.  You said that you scale up every hour by 20 percent, I think you said.

MR. BACON:  Yes, exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which means that you might be using twice as much in summer hour number 5,000, or whatever it is, but you're using that much more in every hour.  So if you were to translate it into a curve, it would be the exact same curve, just scaled up?

MR. BACON:  It's exactly the same curve, and the reason we're doing that is we don't have any better data, and that's why we're -- we say somewhere that when smart meters come out, when we actually have information from smart meters, then we will actually have a load profile.  But until then, we assumed that this was the best information, because it was used -- a lot of effort was put in to develop those load profiles for the -- in -- based on the 2004 data to do the informational filings, cost allocation informational filings.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So I think what you're telling me is that, in your view, how the actual load profile for 2011 or more recently, I guess, 2010, relates to 2004, you don't have any new information, so all you can do is scale up from 2004?

MR. BACON:  That is absolutely correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So what actually happens in 2011 you can't say?  You don't know how it actually relates to 2004?

MR. BACON:  We don't have the meters in place to actually develop the load profile for the class yet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I thought that was the case.

Now, this has -- my next area of questioning has -- it's in relation to the updated evidence, in part.  And for that I'm going to start with VECC No. 44(g).

And here at table 7-2, you summarize the results of the revised cost allocation in the updated evidence?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, first, can you confirm that the $108,723,757 total is $15,818 more than in the original application?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct, $15,561.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But can you also confirm that the revenue requirement allocated to the residential rate class in this updated cost allocation increases by $213,628?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Just a second.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that number is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that the decline in the large user class that's the subject of the updated evidence, that the decline in that class load results in a reallocation of costs to the other customer classes such that the load reduction doesn't just impact the allocation of costs and the resulting rates for the large user class?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And this is because with the lower large user class loads, the other classes now pick up a larger portion of any demand-related costs?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's -- yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4, this has to do with the proposed new large use load forecast variance account.  I put it up on the screen.  It's only a small update.

You describe the new deferral account here that you're proposing to use to track any additional net distribution revenues?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you clarify for me, first, in terms of the proposal, are you suggesting that the additional net revenues would only be tracked for 2011, or would it be 20011 plus the following years presumably under IRM?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  2011 and beyond.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then as part of this evidence, you propose that any amounts recorded would be shared between Horizon's shareholders and the large user class on a 50/50 basis; is that correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  What we put forward in the revised evidence was one approach in terms of the proposal.  So we had suggested that we track the difference, in particular for the two customers highlighted in the revised evidence, but we noted that in a response to -- I believe it's a Board Staff interrogatory on the revised evidence.  I think it's Board Staff 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just put it on the screen for you.  I was going to go there.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Oh, sorry.  This is but one option and that we had put forward one approach.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think you can see where I was going in terms of a potential problem with that approach, in that the reallocation of costs means that other classes, certainly residential class, end up picking up a quarter of a million dollars in costs?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We recognize that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, just in terms of what you're actually requesting in this application, are you actually -- it sounds to me like you're more simply asking for the deferral account and that disposal may be figured out one way or another when you come in for disposal; is that fair?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  If I may?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Certainly.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  At the time that we had put forward the revised evidence in March - and I think we've noted this also in response to interrogatories on the revised evidence - we hadn't completed a full run of the cost allocation model.

So at the time, it seemed that -- or at least our interpretation was that this was one approach that seemed fair.

On a more full, complete run of the cost allocation model, as we've just discussed, there are impacts to other classes or as between other classes, based on the reallocation of these costs.

That being said, I note in our response to Board Staff Interrogatory 3(c) that we understand that the disposition of these balances will be dealt with in a future application and proceeding.

And so perhaps putting forward one approach is the way that we would have offered that the current connections related to the two accounts that are highlighted with respect to account 1572, that that's the way to deal with variances related to those current connections.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You had me right up until the end there.  So let me just ask it more simply then.

The request in this case right now with respect to the variance account is to put any excess revenue from those particular customers, who shall remain nameless in my cross-examination, into a variance account, and clear it later in the methodology, and who gets what out of that account down the line would be subject to the next Board's discretion?  Is that fair, or are you actually -- are you actually advocating for a particular disposition, i.e., for example, the 50/50 sharing with only large-use customers, because I think you're saying "no" to the second part and "yes" to the first part?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So I'll recast it back to you in case I get the "yes" and the "no" incorrect, and regret it later.

But what we are saying, which I think is in agreement to what you've just stated, is that we proposed one scenario.  We recognized that on a complete run of the cost allocation model, that there are distributions as between the classes.

But frankly, we're in the Board's hands in terms of how this -- how the future disposition of these variances, if there are any, would be dealt with.

We're open, we're open to the options in terms of the current connections or current facilities related to these two large-use customers, and based on the threshold or -- the defined threshold.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I were to paraphrase your final submissions on this particular point, would they be something like:  Please put any excess revenue from these two customer classes into a variance account, and then we'll have another Board deal with it?

Or is -- I'm not quite sure if you're sticking with your original proposal or not.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm not hard-coded to the original proposal.  And it was to the two particular customers, not customer classes, but --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, just the two --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, with respect to the two customers.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- particular customers, and on the current connections and facilities related to those two particular customers, based on the established baseline.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It still seems to me like you may be in final argument, suggesting your proposal as it stands in the updated evidence; is that fair?

I'm sorry if I'm being obtuse, but it almost sounds like you're withdrawing that particular proposal, but it doesn't sound like you want to go all the way and actually withdraw it.

So I just want clarity.  I mean, if you're going to make that proposal, then we'll respond to it and I don't have to talk about it anymore.  But if you are withdrawing that proposal, based on, at least in part, what we've been talking about –- specifically, costs being leaked over to other classes -- then I'd rather know now.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, I think that the question has been answered to the witness's ability at this point.  It's in the updated -- Horizon's position is in the updated evidence.

If Mr. Buonaguro wants to argue for a particular approach to this, a different approach, then we can certainly deal with that in reply submissions.

MS. HARE:  Well, it wasn't very clear to me, actually, what...

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Let me try again.  Sorry.

And I beg the Board's indulgence.  I'm not trying to be difficult at all.

We are not hard-coded or wed to the proposal that was in the revised evidence.  And so I'm not -- I'm not -- and I'm not trying to be obtuse or be difficult in terms of what we would be submitting in final argument, or final submissions on this application.

But as I noted in -- as we noted in our response to Board Staff 3(c), that was one approach.  We understand that -- well, as I've noted in this testimony, that there are impacts to the other classes.  That wasn't apparent when the incomplete run of the cost allocation model was done, which was March 14th evidence.

On a complete run of the cost allocation model, which we've done subsequently and in response to interrogatories, we note -- and I've highlighted, I have identified here today -- that there are impacts to the other customer classes.

So I'm not suggesting that this is necessarily, then, the right, or what a future Board panel at disposition would find, and it's not -- therefore not our suggestion as the only approach to take.

MS. HARE:  But I think, if I may, Mr. Buonaguro's problem is that if in the end you're going to argue for this approach, he's going spend a lot of time in his submissions arguing as to why that approach doesn't work.

If you end up saying it will be decided at a later stage, then he's probably okay with it and doesn't have to spend a lot of time on that.

Is that your concern, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's partly it.  I mean, if the actual proposal in the evidence from the company is to do this particular reallocation of that particular revenue, if it exists in the variance account, then I have to spend a lot of time now explaining why that's inappropriate.

But it sounded to me in the evidence that you were saying:  No, no, no, you know.  We understand -- and you've explained a couple times now why it may be that some other approach is appropriate.  So I think we're on the same page there.

And you seem to, in this interrogatory response that's on the screen, say:  Put the money in the account, which is a request that this Board would have to approve, and then let the next Panel, who has to clear the account, figure out what's the fair way to reallocate those costs.

And if that's the proposal, that's a certain -- that's one way -- I can respond to that in a different way than I would have to respond to the actual proposal that was in the original evidence, so...

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  And so the answer is yes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  To the latter, that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- that we're asking this Board Panel to set up the account, and to track whatever variance there is above that threshold for the current connections for these two customers, and that a future Panel may deal with the disposition and in the manner that is determined at that time.

I hope that's clearer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry about that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you mentioned the word "T-stat" in there somewhere, so that's the end of my cross.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  And so if that's the end, then that's super.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Aiken, how long do you think you'll be?

MR. AIKEN:  I can probably be finished by 12:30.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  That's great.  Thank you.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I want to start by going back to our discussion we started to have on Thursday, and this had to do with the large-user revenue.

So if you could turn to page 28 of the Energy Probe Compendium, this is Exhibit K1.4, page 28.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  This is the revised table 3-1:  "Summary of operating revenue."

And we had started to discuss on the first day of the hearing the difference in the large-user revenues.  So in this schedule, you will see that the Board-approved large-user revenue as about five-and-a-half million, and the actual in 2008 is about 2.1 million.

So that's a reduction of about 3.4 million, or more than 60 percent from the Board-approved level.

Then if you flip over to the next page in the compendium, page 29, this is table 3-24 from the evidence.

Down near the bottom, you'll see that the kilowatt billing determinants declined from about 3.9 million in 2008 Board-approved, to 3.3 million in 2008 actual, which is a reduction of about 15 percent.

So my first question was, and still is:  Why the disconnect, a 60 percent reduction in revenues and a 15 percent reduction in one of the billing determinants?

MR. BROOKER:  In our prefiled evidence, we indicated that the decision that we reached on 2008 rates was provided to us in the latter part of 2008.  And we also indicated that there was a $1.8 million transformer allowance that had been given to large-use customers that was not -- that was not adjusted in any way when the rates were finalized in December of 2008.

So that certainly accounts for a large portion of that difference that you were alluding to.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And if you could turn to pages 3 and 4 of the compendium, this is a response to an Energy Probe interrogatory, where I'd specifically asked for a calculation showing the reduction in the large-use revenue.

On page 4 in the box at the top, in the "large-use" column, you'll see the actual kilowatts and the Board-approved kilowatts, and it shows the variance of 576,404.  And at the Board-approved rate, that amounts to just under $600,000.

So if we add that $600,000 to the 1.8 million you just noted, that gives me a total of 2.4 million, yet the total reduction in revenues is about 3.4 million.  So there's still a million dollars outstanding.

And that's the million dollars I'm trying to account for.

MR. BROOKER:  I think the other difference is the dates of the application of the rates.  We used the prior rates up to a period of time and the new rates taking effect later on.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, does this also account for the difference between 2008 actual and 2009 actual?  If you go back to pages 28 and 29 of the compendium, you'll see that there's more than a doubling of the revenue from this large use category from 2.1 to 4.5 million.  But in terms of the kilowatt billing determinants, there's a reduction of 3.3 million to 2.4 million.

That's on page 29.

MR. BROOKER:  I believe that as you've noted or as I've mentioned earlier, the 2008 actual is certainly impacted by the $1.8 million transformer allowance difference.  So if you put the $1.8 million, the 2008 actual moves up to closer to 3.8 or almost 4 million.  Comparing that to the 2009 actual is actually an indication, in some way, of the economic downturn in 2008 that has persisted into 2009, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  But even if that 2008 adjusted is around 4 million, there is still a half-million-dollar increase in 2009 revenues, and a significant drop in kilowatt billing determinants in 2009.  There is $900,000 -- roughly 900,000 reduction in kilowatts.

So I still can't follow, you know, the increase in revenue with a decrease in billing determinants.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BROOKER:  Just to make sure we're getting the right numbers, we'd like to take an undertaking for this.

MR. AIKEN:  That would be fine.  Maybe you could add that to undertaking J1.1, I believe it is, that this was going to flow back into, anyways, okay.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  The record can note that this undertaking will form part of J1.1.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm moving to a different area, and this is the -- your proposal related to long-term debt.  If you could turn to page 38 of the compendium, this is from Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3 and your -- the Horizon proposal outlined there lines 6 through 14.

And if I understand it correctly, you have a 116 million note that matures on July 31st, 2012.  My first question:  What is the current rate on this loan and what is the rate that Horizon is requesting for regulatory requirement purposes?

MR. BASILIO:  The current rate on the note payable is 7 percent.  The rate on the note requested in the application is 6.1 percent.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, your specific proposal is to adjust your long-term debt rate effective in the next scheduled incentive rate mechanism adjustment after you complete the refinancing.  So, first of all, do you expect to refinance prior to the maturity date of July 31st, 2012?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  So your proposal would be to reflect the change in the long-term debt rates for rates effective January 1st, 2013, since that would be your first IRM application after you have refinanced?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  How do you propose that this adjustment be applied under IRM?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, as we noted, I think in some of the evidence, we're not aware of an existing mechanism to make such an adjustment.  In response to one of the IRs - I believe it was an SEC IR - Schools 33, which asked about different options, we provided a few different options that might be considered to adjust that rate.

But I suppose one mechanism would be to create a variance account as of the date of the refinancing, track the difference between - excuse me for a second - track the difference between the rate that persists as a result of this application on the $116 million note and the value or the rate on the refinanced note, and to dispose of that as of the effective date of the next IRM filing and to adjust the cost of capital rate based on the new rate on the refinanced note effective at that time, as well, would be one mechanism.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And am I correct that your proposal would apply whether the new interest rate was higher or lower than the 6.1 percent embedded in your 2011 rates?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Moving on to my final topic, and this was discussed a number of times last week.  It was indicated that the 2010 actual load was higher due to warmer-than-normal summer.  Do you recall that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  If you could turn to page 27 of the compendium, which is a table provided in response to a VECC interrogatory?  And in the 2010 row under the "Actual Purchases" column, you'll see a figure of 4,296.1 gigawatt-hours for the 2010 actual purchases and that this is an increase from the 4,207.5 in 2009.

So I'm assuming that this is the impact that we were talking about last week.  That's the actual increase for everybody except large-use customers?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  Okay.  And then in the last column of that table, we have the estimated actual weather normalized gigawatt-hours, and when you see there, when you compare 2009 normalized actual with 2010 normalized actual, there's actually an increase in 2010 of about 4.4 gigawatt-hours.

To what do you attribute that increase?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BACON:  Well, to a certain degree, it's a result of the calculations which are in front of you.  But it's a very small number.  It's almost immaterial.

MR. AIKEN:  I agree, but we've been focussing on reductions due to CDM.  We've had discussions about the fact that Horizon is not adding a large number of customers year to year.  We're talking about the effect of the economy not only on the large-use customers, which I understand are not in these numbers, but the economy on the other commercial/industrial customers.  And yet we see there's actually a bit of a turnaround in 2010 in terms of volume increase.

I agree with you it's not a big increase, but it just seems to be -- even if this number was flat, I would have been surprised because of the CDM, the lack of customer growth, the general economy.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BACON:  We have to look at this and say that this reflects the non-large users.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  So from this, from your analysis, we would say that on –- in the non-large-user group, there is a slight, a very small uptick or increase.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you tell me specifically if it's coming from the residential class or the GS classes?

MR. BASILIO:  I hope I'm not confusing the issue further, but if we look at the 2008 number, which is 4,437, the drop persists through 2009 and '10.  I mean, both those years were under adverse economic conditions, so doesn't that -- doesn't that really satisfy the question?  I mean, the result is a reduction, weather-normalized.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I can understand the difference in 2009 and 2010 compared to the previous years.  But I thought, for example, there would be more CDM impact in 2010 than there was in 2009.

So there's something, you know, that's driving those numbers up, but I'm happy to leave it at that.

And those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The Board will take its lunch break now, and we'll resume at 1:30.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:28 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:42 p.m.

MS. HARE:  I understand we have a slight change in schedule, and, Ms. Girvan, you're next?

Well, she was after you, Mr. Crocker.  It's all I meant.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Julie Girvan.  I'm with the Consumers Council of Canada.

Really, I'm primarily just getting sort of updates and some clarification questions.

So could I refer you to CCC Interrogatory No. 5.  Do you have that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, we do.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  My first question, and this was discussed a bit on the first day, but can you help me understand about the recovery of the late payment penalty?

I'll just wait for the panel to get the interrogatory first.  Sorry.

MS. HARE:  I think we're there.  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I'm just looking at, basically, the...  Okay, what this interrogatory sets out is the proposed and existing rates.  So does everyone have it?  Okay, thanks.

My first question relates to something that was discussed the first day.  And I realize it's part of a separate proceeding or separate application, but can you explain to me how the late payment penalty revenue will be recovered?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  To date, what we have done is filed -- made the submission as per the Board's decision on the late payment penalty proceeding.  But beyond that, in terms of updating the rate schedule, we haven't made any further amendment to the rate schedule inclusive of LPP.

That being said, there have been subsequent events, if you will, like the introduction of the OCEB, the Ontario Clean Energy Benefit.  So that impacts schedules.  Those things have not been reflected in our materials.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Is the plan -- and I'm just not aware of this.  Is the plan to recover that through the fixed or the variable charge?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Through the fixed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Through the fixed charge.  And can you give me -- when I look at this interrogatory -- and I'm looking at the residential rate schedules, and I see $12.68 on the service charge for 2010 and $14.71 for 2011.

Can you indicate, sort of ballpark, what the impact of the late payment would be on those charges?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Subject to check, 26 cents.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Subject to check, per customer per month.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's sort of ballpark?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Ballpark, if you will.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And the other thing I'm looking for is, given that we've had a number of updates in the evidence since you originally filed this interrogatory, I was wondering if you could first tell me to what extent these charges have changed, both the fixed and the variable, given the update?

MR. BROOKER:  We issued a bill impact schedule just a little while ago, this morning, I understand, and that impact schedule shows that the residential has gone down to $14.69 per customer per month compared to the 14.71 that you see in the answer to the interrogatory, and the variable hasn't changed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So the bill impacts are essentially the same as when you filed this?

MR. BROOKER:  Slight differences, but you're essentially correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  So when I look at this, I see the smart meter funding adder of $1.56 in each year.  And when the customer sees this fixed service charge, they're going to see a total of 14.24, and using these numbers, a 16.27 in 2011?  That's what the customers will see as their service charge, because it includes the smart meter funding adder?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I believe it was Mr. Basilio on Thursday or Friday indicated you were doing all you could to mitigate bill impacts for your customers.  And I just wondered if you had considered maintaining the fixed charges at the 2010 levels for residential consumers?

MR. BASILIO:  Respectfully, one of the principal reasons that we're here is to address volatility with respect to load.  And I think as -- I think the answer is no.  Sorry, the answer is no, so let me start with that.

One of the reasons we're here is to address load volatility, more specifically with respect to the larger commercial classes.  But it's been our contention - and we're in evidence in a number of filings on this issue - that we believe the fixed portion of bills generally is low relative to the underlying nature of our costs, which for the most part are fixed.

And so artificially reducing fixed, in our view, really doesn't align with the nature of the costs of the utility and unduly exposes it to risk, risks that have an impact on ratepayers with respect to our ability to provide the proper funding for capital and operating and other expenditures that they all benefit from.

MS. GIRVAN:  But that also assumes that your cost allocation is a science?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  And I wouldn't purport to suggest that cost allocation is 100 percent correct, and there's a study underway now, I believe, to revisit cost allocation.  But if we're just talking about fixed variables -- if we're talking about cost allocation, I suppose that's somewhat of another issue.  But with respect to the fixed/variable split, we would not propose to reduce the fixed portion of the bills further.

With respect to cost allocation - and maybe I'll refer to Indy or Grant or Bruce on this point - I think we are operating -- or we are operating -- we have filed cost allocation information that's in compliance with the Board's cost allocation model.  And I think we're well within the sort of parameters that are acceptable within that.

I don't know, Indy, if you've --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think a point to add is that on cost allocation, in this application - and I believe Mr. Bacon touched on it briefly - the update or the better information that we have this time versus even our last -- our 2008 EDR, our cost of service application, is that we've updated to 2011 actual -- to 2011 data based on 2010.  And that received some discussion between Mr. Buonaguro and Mr. Bacon.

That said, in our cost allocation - and this is in the evidence in Exhibit 7 - we have been moving, or attempting to move, or proposing to move, perhaps, is the better way to put it, towards unity, and have done so in this application, as well, particularly for the residential customer class.

So the cost allocation, in terms of this application, attempts to avoid cross-subsidization particularly for the residential customer class.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you for that.

Just two more questions.  Can you tell me, if, for example, the Board reduced your revenue deficiency from 19.5 to, say, $10 million, can you tell me to what extent overall bill impacts will change?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Without being coy, clearly it's a reduction, and a significant one, but by what dollar value or exact percentage, in the absence of doing the calculations, it would be difficult for me to tell.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And just one last question, just to -- if you can help me with this.

Once the Board makes its decision, how do you go about determining the new revenue-to-cost ratios?  What process do you go through internally in terms of establishing the revenue-to-cost ratios that would come out of a Board decision relative to what's been filed with your application?

MR. BACON:  I believe the Board would actually decide what the revenue/cost ratio should be, and we will -- would work towards those in -- the decision would come out and give direction on that particular issue, and we'd work towards those in the rate order.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Crocker?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, my name is David Crocker and I represent AMPCO.

We distributed a compendium, which perhaps should be marked.

MS. HELT:  Yes, for the Panel Members, I believe a copy has been provided for each of you on your dais.

We will mark the AMPCO compendium of references as Exhibit K3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM OF REFERENCES

MR. CROCKER:  Just at the outset, to repeat what others have said and what's already on the record, and as can be seen from the table on page 1 of the compendium, you are seeking a rate requirement -- sorry, a revenue requirement of $108,723,500?

MR. BASILIO:  108,723,500.

MR. CROCKER:  What did I say?  108,000?

MR. BASILIO:  But that -- that has been updated -- I think I was just referring to where you're pointing in the schedule.

MR. CROCKER:  Yeah.  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, that figure has been updated in our response to VECC Interrogatory 37(e) on the revised evidence, which was submitted on April 6th.

And that number is now 108,196,928.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thanks.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  And that's -- I think this has already been discussed, but about 21 percent over the forecast revenue for 2010; correct?

MR. BASILIO:  Subject to check, that's about right, yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  And as you've said just now and as you said before throughout all of this, this is partially caused by a declining load, principally in the large-user class?

MR. BASILIO:  Greater than GS -- GS greater-than-50.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  Large-user.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Your updated 2011 load forecast, which can be seen on the table that we've produced on page 2, is $2,417,347, unless that's been updated, as well?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, 2,417,347 kilowatts is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, kilowatts, not dollars.  Kilowatts.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yeah, kilowatts.

MR. CROCKER:  Thanks.  And that's -- with respect to the large-user category, that's 66 percent greater than the 2010 forecast; that's correct, isn't it?

I think that's on the record, as well.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It's less than.  Sorry, did you say "greater than"?

MR. CROCKER:  I said about -- I'm sorry.  I take it back.

It's 15.6 percent - my mind was ahead of my reading - 15.6 percent lower than the 2010 actual forecast -- I'm sorry, actual?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm sorry.  I missed it, and if - if you don't mind repeating your last statement?

MR. CROCKER:  Yeah.  Yeah.  That the 2,417,347 is 15.6 percent lower than 2010 actual?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.  It's almost -- if I can draw yours and the Board's attention to this same page, 2009 actuals -- it's almost the same as 2009 actuals.

MR. CROCKER:  But you're proposing a net operating revenue increase for the large-user class of about 66 percent greater than 2010 forecast?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with me, I presume, that that's a significant increase?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's the operating revenue at the proposed rates.

MR. CROCKER:  And it's significant?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It's an increase.

MR. BASILIO:  We would agree that it's significant.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm not trying to be difficult.  Sorry.

MR. CROCKER:  And out of interest, do you have the 2010 actuals, the net operating revenue for 2010, so that we can compare that, as well?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Up until this time, that column has not been updated to 2010 actual.

MR. CROCKER:  Has not been?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Has not been.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Are you in a position do that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Not at this time, but I could take it as an undertaking.

MR. CROCKER:  That's fine.  For information purposes.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J3.5, then, would be to revise table 3.1's summary of operating revenue, Horizon Utilities, Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 4 of 69, to include the 2010 net operating actuals.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  to REVISE TABLE 3.1, EXHIBIT 3, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2, PAGE 4 OF 69, TO INCLUDE THE 2010 NET OPERATING ACTUALS.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we look on page 4 of the compendium, we've done a quick calculation to sort of describe the impact of this.

And we've taken a phantom customer with a monthly demand of $50,000 -- sorry, 50,000 kilowatts.  And we have to revise this as a result of your filing this morning, the K3.1 filing this morning, so that if we look at the 2011 rates, the 26,703.47, that's been changed to -- I think you changed that this morning to 29,900.49?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  24,900.49.  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  And the variable rate is a $1.5193, instead of $1.62940 as a result of this morning's filing?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Regardless of that, the fixed rate in 2010 goes from -- the 2010 fixed rate of 11,151 goes to, in 2011, to 26,703?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  24,900.

MR. CROCKER:  Sorry, 20 -- yeah, okay.  They're revised.  The 24-whatever; correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  24,900; yes, that is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And the variable rate goes from 50,000 and change to 81,000 and change; correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Subject to check.  Sorry, you're quoting on the page the distribution variable and in the dollar value, the 50,000 --


MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- at 2010 rates and the 81,000 at 2011 rates.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Subject to the fact that, as we've noted, the variable charge has changed so this number --


MR. CROCKER:  Marginally.  Will change slightly?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.

MR. CROCKER:  The change in the fixed rate roughly is 139 percent?  That is a 139 percent increase you're proposing?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So at our -- based on the proposal that you've seen, in terms of the bill impacts that you've seen this morning and the evidence that we filed with the April 6th update - that's last Wednesday - it's actually 123 percent.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, 123.  I'll take that subject to check, 123 percent.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's fair.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.

MR. CROCKER:  And the fixed is somewhere around 61 percent, both increases?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, so we just did the fixed, and so this would be the variable.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, did I say fixed?  I meant variable.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Okay.  So the fixed is the 123 percent --


MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- you're taking subject to check, and the variable -- now I'm doing the same thing.  Then the variable would -- it's in the ballpark.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I'm suggesting to you once again these are substantial increases; correct?

MR. BASILIO:  We would agree they are significant increases relative to 2010, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  The math that we did before all of these changes were, or was, a monthly increase for the class of $556,000 and change?  I'm sorry, not monthly, annual?

Let me ask the question properly.

For this phantom user, this $50,000 user that we've created here, the annual increase will be $556,000, as altered by the changes that were made as a result of this morning's filing?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So for the 50,000 kilowatt customer.

MR. CROCKER:  Did I say dollars?  Kilowatt customer, sorry.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  For that customer, based on the math that you've laid out in the compendium, those are the numbers, subject to check.

MR. CROCKER:  Sorry.  Once again, a substantial increase?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think we've offered that.

MR. CROCKER:  I know you have trouble saying that.  Mr. Basilio, a substantial increase?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't have any problems saying it.  It's a substantial increase.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I can say it.

MR. CROCKER:  Ms. Butany-DeSouza, if you turn to page 6 of the compendium, just an excerpt from the transcript.  At line 26, you say:
"We have a high level of concentration related to -- if you say the 80/20 rule, one or two large-use customers contribute to a great amount of the revenue of the class."

So once again, you're attributing this increase substantially to the loss of two customers?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, that's not what I was -- I agree with what you've read from the transcript, and I can see it before me and it is the testimony that I offered a few days ago.

What we're saying is that the increase -- or what you've asked is these increases, am I attributing it to these two customers?  And I believe we've noted not only in this proceeding, throughout the evidence, responses to interrogatories and even in the past few days' testimony, as well as in our earlier Z-factor application of 2009, that there's revenue and load volatility related to the large-use customer class.

Earlier in this proceeding, Ms. Taylor had asked me -- had asked us, in fact, about any structural changes that we have made to address these issues.

So the mathematics that you've taken us through on the earlier page, page 4 of the compendium, they're reflective of those structural changes which I had offered testimony on earlier.  We've addressed that volatility through perhaps two methods at least, and that's cost allocation and rate design, specifically as it pertains to this class.

MR. CROCKER:  I think I mischaracterized what you said, actually, the significance of what you said.

Was what you were saying, despite the description that you just gave me, that there are -- of the class, there are two users that are more significant than -- or as significant -- more significant than the rest of -- all of the rest of the class?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think we're all aware, and I'm not meaning to pre- --


MR. CROCKER:  Can I make a suggestion?  I think my questions, the fact that I'm stumbling through here with kilowatts and dollars and reading ahead of myself at times, the odd time I ask a relatively straightforward question.  This one is a relatively straightforward question.

Two users are more significant than the rest of the class?  Sorry, microphone.

If you would answer that with a "yes" or a "no", and then qualify it, I think we will get through this more quickly than otherwise.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm sorry, I wasn't trying to be difficult.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm not suggesting that you were --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  Yes.  Yes.  At least --


MR. CROCKER:  I'm suggesting if you answered with a "yes" or a "no", and then qualified, we'd get farther ahead.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So, yes, at least one customer is -- where I was going, in trying to answer the question, was that at least one customer is even more significant, if you will, than the rest.  And that's been the subject of other discussion.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Have you discussed -- in the course of developing this application, did you discuss the potential impact of your proposal on this one or the two customers we are talking about?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We've met with -- we've attempted to meet with all of the large-use customers --


MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- as a matter of this application, and, in particular, as this application would impact the large-use customer class.

MR. CROCKER:  Mm-hm.  And I am sure you were told in the course of those discussions that these are stressful times for the manufacturing sector, particularly the manufacturing sector within your jurisdiction, and these would not be easy changes to accept for them?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Perhaps I can answer that in two parts.  The first, and to use your words, we were made aware that the increases are significant.  That being said, we've had these discussions, and let me qualify with those discussions pre-date my time at Horizon, but I understand that my peers have had these discussions with the large-use customers along the way, which date back to our 2008 rate application; that Horizon's view is that there shouldn't be cross-subsidization as between customer classes; that our view is to move towards unity or to avoid cross-subsidization - my goodness, I have a tough time with that word - as between classes; and that addressing that through methods, including the cost allocation and looking at how to address revenue volatility, which was reflected in this application by the methodology taken on rate design, was part of that outcome.

MR. CROCKER:  You got from this -- Horizon got from these discussions, did Horizon not, that these are difficult times for these customers and it would be -- these are not easy increases for them to absorb?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  I would actually -- perhaps I can point to specific evidence in this proceeding where we responded to an AMPCO technical question on this issue.  And if you'll just give me a second to find it -- sorry, I have the wrong binder in front of me.

Sorry about that.

So we responded to this in AMPCO Technical Question No. 5, part (b).  While we noted that those discussions are generally confidential -- and I can refer to Eileen Campbell, to add additional colour to this -- as I've noted, we were told that these increases are significant and that the times are challenging.

Beyond that, I would make reference to our response to AMPCO 5(b), that generally speaking, the breadth of those discussions are confidential.

MR. CROCKER:  You've answered my question.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I have.

MR. CROCKER:  That's fine.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  But I...

MR. CROCKER:  In the course of these discussions, was there any indication that these customers may have no choice but to change service providers?

I mean, isn't there a breaking point at some point?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I'm not sure if that's argument or quite what that is, but Ms. Butany-DeSouza has said that those discussions are confidential, and I don't think it's appropriate to keep going into them.

MS. HARE:  I think that's fair.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you considered the potential for losing one or two, the large one that you've mentioned, the second one that's there, of these -- of this class to Hydro One?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  While I recognize that Hydro One does have some of our service territories intermingled with Hydro One, respectfully, I don't know how a customer would, to use your words, simply change.

MR. CROCKER:  I didn't suggest that they would -- I didn't mean to suggest that they would simply change, and I understand it's not a simple matter.  And we will talk about that in a little bit.

I asked you whether you'd thought about it, whether you'd considered it, and what the impact would be of these -- there are two large customers leaving.

What does that do to the class?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Perhaps I can cast it a different way.

And I think that that's, in fact, why we have the proposal before us that we do, in terms of the revised load forecast that was put forward on March 14th, that we're already seeing, not necessarily -- not because of -- because of other circumstances that are happening with those two particular large-use customers, the consequence of a shutdown, or a lockout and a shutdown, customers leaving.

It's where we are today.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  So you're suggesting that despite that fact, and despite the fact that -- I assume that what you're saying is that you have considered it, you still think that these increases to the class are manageable, are appropriate?

MS. HARE:  Mr. Crocker, I think they've answered that question several times, and that you've asked them whether they considered that when they put forward their application, and they've indicated that they did consider it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

If I could ask you to turn to page 17 of the compendium, this is an AMPCO interrogatory, No. 20, and we ask:

"How many of Horizon's large-user class customers are supplied with power from Horizon substations versus Hydro One substations?"

And the answer is:
"All of them are supplied by Hydro One."

You follow along with me?  You agree I've read that properly?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, they're fed from the Hydro One transformer stations as noted in part (a) of this response.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  That would make a switch to Hydro One easier than it otherwise might be, wouldn't it?

MR. BASILIO:  Not on this panel is Kathy Lerette, our vice-president of utility operations.  What I would -- I don't know if I can -- I don't know if I can suggest anything here, but she would really be the best one to address any structural changes insofar as the distribution system.

We don't have anyone on the panel here presently that I think can address those technical questions.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So it's perfectly acceptable to say "I don't know" if you're not comfortable answering the question.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't know.

MR. CROCKER:  Fine.  Thank you.

I'd like to talk to you about your proposals between the split between the fixed and variable rates.

And if you could go to page 15 of the compendium, please, this is another table that we've put together, based on the information that -- at various points in the evidence as updated umpteen millions of times.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, that's not completely fair.  It was -- it has been updated --


MS. HARE:  No, no, no, Mr. Sidlofsky, I was thinking the exact same thing.

Umpteen millions of times --


MR. CROCKER:  Several times.  Several times.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  "Several" may be fair.  "Millions" is a little high, I think.

MS. HARE:  "Several" may be fair, "millions" is not.

MR. CROCKER:  I know.  I'm not always fair.  I didn't -– I was being facetious.

As we've said earlier -- and these numbers have changed as of this morning, so this is not absolutely relevant, but it's certainly close enough -- you're proposing to increase the fixed rate by about, I think you said, 123 percent?  Is that the revised number?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And the variable rate about 61 percent?

MR. BASILIO:  Approximately.

MR. CROCKER:  And the change in the relationship between the two goes from -- the fixed component will go from 34 and change to 49 and change?

Once again, you can advise me how this morning's changes -- filings change that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So the evidence that we revised on April 6th, the bill impacts were what we distributed today.

So I just want to be clear on the number of changes.  The change was from last week.  The bill impacts was what we distributed today.  So there hasn't been a further change today, just so that everyone is clear.

That being said, at Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4, is the previous fixed split for the large-use customer class; that is the 34.3 percent.

We have moved that class to 49.4 percent, and that's at Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 1, page 8.

MR. CROCKER:  And that's what we've said here?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  Correct?  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  The variable -- well, whether -- me asking you -- explain to me what you've done with the variable rate.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, your question is:  And what's the change to the variable component?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. BROOKER:  The variable component, as you've mentioned, has gone from 1.023 per kilowatt to 1.5193.

Is that what you were getting at?

MR. CROCKER:  No.  However, you -- put it another way.

We've set it out, at the bottom two boxes in that table, that the variable component is going from 65.8 percent of the bill in 2010 to 50.6 percent in 2011?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.  Yes.

Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I understand from Mr. Basilio today and earlier that you are doing this in order to reduce risk.

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you tell me how that impacts demand management?  We're in a period when we are promoting demand management.  Can you tell me how increasing the fixed portion of the bill promotes demand management?  I'm suggesting it doesn't.  It does the opposite.

MR. BASILIO:  I thought you started in somewhere different, but certainly as you increase the fixed component of the bill, I'd suggest that that reduces incentive for demand management.

MR. CROCKER:  And aren't we in a world at the moment where we are --


MR. BASILIO:  With respect to distribution.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. BASILIO:  Of course the distribution component -- and I think this is important.  I don't for a minute want to suggest that these are insignificant increases for the large user class.  However, as compared to the total energy cost for these classes, distribution is a relatively small amount, relatively speaking.

And that's just a statement of fact.  I don't want to attribute anything to that.

So with respect to -- and in that context, if we're simply considering distribution alone, I think I would agree with that contention, that increasing the fixed in and of itself doesn't support demand management for this class, but this class is far and away incented to manage demand, because the overwhelming component of their bill is volumetric with respect to the commodity.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  However, are we not in a world right now where we are doing as much as we can to encourage demand management, and this doesn't do that?

MR. BASILIO:  I think the impact is probably relatively small.  Conceptually, theoretically, I would agree, but, practically speaking, I think the impact is relatively small with respect to this class.

I suspect it probably doesn't impact decisions with respect to conservation and demand management.  That's pure conjecture, though.  I don't have any insider information with respect to that.

MR. CROCKER:  If you could turn to page 18, just to follow this thought along, this is, once again, a response to an AMPCO interrogatory.  It's interrogatory 16.  And you say at line 21, in answer to the question:
"In the current application, Horizon Utilities once again considered proposing a 100% fixed charge in order to address [the risk issue,] the volume risk associated with some of its customers.  There is support for such a position."


Are you still considering that?  Obviously not for this application, but are you considering that in your plans?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  I think what I would suggest is - I think I'm on record with this before - that, generally speaking, it's our view that our costs are largely fixed.  And, again, in a -- and maybe I can refer back to a statement Mr. Shepherd made a day or two ago, comparing this to a private sector company, you know, without -- that has more, perhaps, discretion with respect to how it designs its rates.

It would be my contention that where your costs are largely fixed, which is our contention with respect to distribution, the design of your revenues is going to be a largely fixed component.

And that is our contention.  I think this is an evolution.  We've advanced before that 100 percent fixed distribution charges, something approaching 100 percent, probably makes sense given the underlying cost structure of the utility, particularly in the short to medium term.  But we're not -- we're not proposing that today.  I think that's probably a journey.

I don't think we'd get very far, frankly, proposing 100 percent fixed rate in this application as a practical matter.

But there's a lot of work being done on cost allocation and rate design.  We think those things will continue to evolve, and we'll continue to analyze them and input into that evolution as opportunity arises through the Board or other -- through Board proceedings or other proceedings.

MR. CROCKER:  And you say that makes -- you said earlier, in the answer to the question, that that "makes sense".  That makes sense to the utility, is what you're saying?

MR. BASILIO:  I think it makes -- I think it makes sense in the operation of the utility.  Again, the utility in terms of -- and, again, rate-making policy is based on two things, cost and recovery of those costs.  Our costs are largely fixed.  They don't vary significantly, particularly with respect to large user customers that are entrenched.  I mean, those costs are invested.

If we have a lot of volatility with respect to revenue, that introduces risk related to recovering costs and continuing to invest confidently and on a sustainable basis in the distribution system.  That's one of the principal reasons we advanced our application, is those risks related to load volatility.

MR. CROCKER:  But how does that make sense to the customer in the large user class?  How does that make sense to the demand management word that we're living in?  How does that make any sense to them?

MR. BASILIO:  Again, just -- sorry, I thought I answered this question.  With respect of the large user class, the distribution component is relatively small compared to their overall cost of electricity.  And so it would be my contention, without insider information, that I suspect this has a very small, if any, impact on their decisions with respect to curtailing demand.

The other thing I'd offer is that other class -- so a couple of things.  One, with respect to the large user class, I think I made this statement.  Their costs are largely fixed, not just with respect to large users, but generally speaking, distribution in general.

Thirdly, other classes experience a much higher fixed percentage than the large user class.  I mean, arguably -- and, again, I'm not an engineer, I'm just an accountant, but with respect to if there were a variable component in costs, certainly residential customers turn over.  I mean, there are more changes in the residential class than our large user class.  And they're experiencing a higher percentage of fixed cost -- or of fixed charge than our large user -- our large users are.

I mean, really, we're bringing our large users up to the level of GS greater than 50, I believe.  The residential class, the fixed proportion of revenue is 62 percent.  It's counterintuitive to me that the large user class would have a lower -- such a low fixed allocation.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you have any sense as to what the proportion of the costs that large users face is represented by their energy bill and this part of their bill versus what proportion of their sort of daily costs electricity is to the residential user?

I'm not sure your comparison is an apples-to-apples comparison.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I'm just not totally sure that's relevant.  That involves a large amount of speculation, I would think, and I'm not sure that it's entirely relevant to what this panel is doing here.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, with respect, they raised the issue.  I didn't raise the issue.  They made the comparison.  I don't think it's an apples-to-apples comparison, and I'm just canvassing that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, but...

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If Mr. Basilio is able to answer.

MR. BASILIO:  If I understand the question correctly, I'm not sure that I can offer -- I think what you're asking me is what proportion of electricity cost -- how does electricity costs weigh into the overall cost structure of our large user class?  I don't have that answer.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, thank you.

Could you turn to page 12 of the compendium, please, and we'll look at the table on the -- the second table on - the revised table 7-3.

As I understand it, the previously approved revenue-to-cost ratio of the large user class is 95.2 and the status quo was 63.9, and you're proposing to move it to 91.2; correct?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The Board's range, cost allocation range for large users is 85 to 100, I believe; do you agree with that?  I'm sorry, 85 to 115 --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, I'm not sure that was -- that's right.

MR. CROCKER:  Sorry, 85 to 115?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In light of the impact of your proposed revenue requirement, did you give any thought to narrowing the -- or decreasing the move that you are asking this class to make?

MR. BASILIO:  I might start in on this and then ask Ms. Butany to continue.

I think, in fact, if we look back to our previously approved ratios, our large-user class would have expected that they were at 95.2 percent.

The reality is, given the economy, their loads decreased, and that decreased the amount of costs that that class was recovering.

In fact, one perspective might be that we're moving them to a ratio that, in fact, is less than what they would have expected it to be otherwise, based on the load forecast that presently underlies their rates.

So relative to the last rate application, this is more favourable.  It's not favourable to the current situation, but the current situation is really being driven by the economy, and the fact that their loads are so much lower and they're not recover -- we're not recovering the costs from this class that we would have expected to, based on the last application.

So based on the last application, it's actually favourable to them.

MR. CROCKER:  You're not blaming them for not recovering any more costs?

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely not.  I'm just talking about expect -- I'm just reconciling expectations between the last application and this one.

MR. CROCKER:  If you were to move them to the bottom of the range, as opposed to higher than that, which is what your proposal would be, I'd suggest to you that the impact of your revenue requirement would be lessened some; would you agree with that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It would be less.  You are right.

However, it would be redistributed, then, across other customer classes.  Cost allocation -- I think you've said yourself -- it's not a fine science, but the current cost allocation, as set out in this application and included in the revised evidence, puts the large-user class in a better position even than the 2008 rate -- 2008 approved.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  You answered my question.

Could you turn to page 8, please, of the compendium?

In recognition of the Board's ruling earlier today, you would agree with me that there is one user on this table where you are forecasting no load; that's correct, isn't it?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you go, please, to the next page, page 9 -- and also, this issue has also been discussed earlier, but if you go to page 9, and this is VECC Interrogatory -- what number is it -- 39, I think.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  39.  You say in answer to 39(b):

"While the demand for this one user was not zero, since the announcement of the shutdown, the demand has dropped precipitously to 15 percent."

Is that still the case?  That it -- there is load?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Minor load.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But you've --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Immaterial in comparison to what their load was --


MR. CROCKER:  Had been?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  -- at the same time in 2009.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  But there is load, and you have not calculated that load into your forecasting?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I have not, but for -- for specific reasons, or for a specific reason.

In putting together load forecasts, more specifically in revising the load forecast, taking this particular customer's load to zero, in light of the announced shutdown and the drop that we've already seen, the load forecast has to endure for more than just the test year.

This is the load forecast that's going to be for the next four years, until our next rebasing.  And the percentage -- the dramatic percentage decrease to where it's minimal to almost negligible in comparison to where it was previously, one option was to take them to zero, such that the load forecast is reflective of the likely outcome in this instance, but is also part of -- and I don't think we can separate the two -- is part of why we put forward the proposal, in terms of this customer is part of the variance account that we've spoken about previously or that we seek.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I'll ask you about the variance account in a bit.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry.

MR. CROCKER:  But do you not think that factoring in the actual load makes more sense, is more realistic?

It would certainly be more favourable to the class, don't you think?  I mean -– "more favourable" may be an overstatement.  Marginally more favourable, somewhat more favourable?

MS. HARE:  So just to understand, the actual load from 2010?

MR. CROCKER:  No, no.  The present actual load.

MS. HARE:  The present actual load?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  As I've just stated, I thought -- we thought -- that the reasonable approach would be to take this load to zero, because based on the best information that we have at this time -- the information that we have cited that is already publicly available and that I included in our response to AMPCO No. 5 Technical Question -- the best information we have is that this shutdown is happening.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I just have a quick information question, if you could turn to page –- information-only question -- to page 10?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  The 4,030,000 figure, is that the most return current and realistic figure?  No?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is not the most up-to-date figure.  The most up-to-date figure is that which we filed on April 6th, and we reproduced exactly this table.  If you can give me just a second, I can find it.

Sorry, my apologies.  In the response to AMPCO No. 4, interrogatory on the revised evidence, as updated -- pardon the double use of the word "revised" -- revised April 6th, at page 2 of that response, we recreated the table, as I've noted.

The change in the load forecast still reflects the number that Mr. Crocker has quoted, the 4,030.

MR. CROCKER:  So it is --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is accurate.  My apologies.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Okay.

Could you turn to page 11, please, of the compendium?

We've excerpted the part of the evidence that's described, and as I understand, the revenue sufficiency/deficiency that you're describing is from 2008 Board-approved load to 2010 rates; correct?

MR. BROOKER:  The -- I think you're referring to the $4 million, the four million and 30, and that's calculated -- if I'm answering, hopefully, what you're looking for, that's comparing the 2008 consumption levels.

MR. CROCKER:  Board approved.

MR. BROOKER:  Compared to the 2011 consumption levels.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. BROOKER:  Multiplied by the 2010 rates.  That difference produces the $4 million revenue deficiency related to the load forecast.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you had used 2010 -- I'm sorry, 2008 actual load, how would that change the calculation, and why didn't you do that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Perhaps I can start, Mr. Crocker, and I think that there's two parts to your question, but we compared to the 2008 Board-approved load forecast rather than actual, because that's the load forecast that we have.  We don't get a new load forecast until the next cost of service application.

So the comparison, in order to derive the revenue deficiency as it relates to the load forecast itself, is based on a comparison to the last Board-approved load forecast.

There was a second part, however, to your question, so I don't want to miss that, and it was:  If we were to take 2008 actuals instead of the 2008 Board-approved, what would have happened?  Is that right?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  One second.

[Witness panel confers]

If I can refer you to page 2 of the compendium, the AMPCO compendium, if you look at 2008 actuals, which is the second column, compared to -- sorry, I should give everybody a chance to get there.  Sorry.

If you look at the 2008 actuals versus the 2008 Board approved, and we drop down to almost the bottom of the page related to the large-use customers, KW with WMP, which is wholesale market participant, that, I think, in fact answers the question.  The load was much lower.  It would have driven a greater -- a deficiency, because the load -- as we've spoken of not only in this hearing but in our Z-factor, the load hasn't materialize, which is something that we've been communicating to the Board since, in fact, December 2008 just after we got our rate order.

MR. CROCKER:  But doesn't that mean, therefore, that the impact on revenue requirement would be less?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  No, because the load forecast is still the load forecast that was approved by the Board.  Maybe I'm missing it.

MR. BASILIO:  If our rates were presently based on 2008 actual, the deficiency would be lower, but the fact is they're not.  They're based on the 2008 Board approved.  So it's not -- it's not, maybe for lack of a better word, a relevant comparison.

MR. CROCKER:  And maybe this is my lack of understanding.  And you compared that a way because that's the way things are done, or that's the way you are required to do it or that's the way you chose to do it?

MR. BASILIO:  Required to do it.  So we do -- in a cost of service application, we're required to provide a load forecast similar to this application, which is reviewed, and then there is an outcome, and then that forms the basis of rates through the next IRM period.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, I understand.

If you go page 12, please?  Look at table 7-2, costs allocated to the large use are $8,242,079?  That's correct, isn't it?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, this is the most up-to-date evidence, and that's the right number.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And if we go to page 13, table 7-4, if we look at the data in column C, this is from the cost allocation model, I think; correct?

MR. BROOKER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And --


MR. BACON:  Sorry, no, that's not from the cost allocation model.  Column C is the allocation of the 102.7 million with the same proportion of revenue to existing rates.  It does not pop out of the cost allocation model.

MR. CROCKER:  Where then does it come from, I'm sorry?

MR. BACON:  The column 7 -- column 7B, column 7B, indicates how current rates -- how the revenue at existing rates is distributed to each of the rate classes based on the load forecast by rate class times the current rates in those classes.  That gives you revenue and existing rates by rate class.

In order to determine column 7C, you take the 102.7 million and you allocate it in the same proportions as column 7B.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Well, maybe we didn't do this correctly, then, but it seems to me that -- it seemed to us that your number for large use in 7D wasn't the right number.  We may have calculated it incorrectly.

Can you indicate, please, how you reached that number and whether that number is correct?

MR. BACON:  I assume the number is correct.  It's a load forecast --


MR. CROCKER:  It's a simple multiplication number, isn't it?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So could you tell the Board how you did it?  Tell us how you did it and we can get this out of the way.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I don't think Mr. Bacon was being uncooperative.  He's prepared to answer the question.

MS. HARE:  I don't so either.  No, I think he's being very co-operative.  And he's already given the answer, but maybe you could explain it one more time.

MR. BACON:  Sure.  The updated forecast for 2011 for large-use customers, you take that forecast and you apply the current rates to that, and that will be the revenue at existing rates for the large use class, which should be the $4,052,870.  That's revenue at existing rates for large use class.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But I asked you about column 7D.

MR. BACON:  Oh, column 7D.  Sorry.

All right.  That is -- if you go back to revised table 7-2, you take the costs allocated to test year under study under column 7A, which is 8,234,179.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. BACON:  You would apply the proposed revenue/cost ratio to that of 91.2.  Then you subtract off the amount of miscellaneous revenue allocated to the large use class shown in column 7E, and that would give you the 7,258,442.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, thank you.

Earlier in Mr. Basilio's evidence, he talked about the cost efficiencies that would be created by the merger of Hamilton and St. Catharines.  And according to conversations we've had with our large user clients, they haven't seen those efficiencies.

Are there -- in the course of that merger and in the context of the shutdown of one of your customers, are there stranded assets that are being paid for?  And particularly by the large-user class?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, if I understood the question correctly, are there -- have we done something with stranded assets, or do we have a stranded assets issue?

Sorry, if you can just clarify the question for me again?

MR. CROCKER:  Sure.  I wondered whether in light of the merger, and particularly in the context of the closure, whether there were stranded assets that were being paid for.

MR. BASILIO:  No, not that I'm aware of.  Like, customers, all of the existing customers of Hamilton and --the former Hamilton Hydro and St. Catharines Hydro would be continued in Horizon Utilities, all those connections and whatnot would have been preserved.

So the assets would have all continued in the new entity.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So forget the front end of my question, then, and just in terms of the closure, are there stranded assets being paid for?  If there's no load, if you're considering that there's no load from that plant, are there assets that are stranded that are being paid for?

MR. BASILIO:  Potentially there are stranded assets, I suppose, if a plant closes and it's not occupied, again, subject to check.

We haven't proposed anything with respect to that condition in the application, but again, it's possible that, you know, a plant or a facility can be acquired and used by a new purchaser.

Perhaps peripherally, we have proposed, of course, with respect to this variance account that to the extent that there is load above what's assumed in the forecast, that that -- that the revenue generated by such load is shared on a 50/50 basis between the utility and its ratepayers, subject to, you know, a future – a disposition in a -- or disposition determination in our next application.

Is that the question?

MR. CROCKER:  The last area I'm going to talk about is that variance account, and I'm going to get to it in a second.

But if there are stranded assets, can you give me in any sense -- and I wouldn't expect that I would be able to do this right off the top of your head, but could you give me any sense as to costs we're talking about?  How much, over what period of time they're going to be paid for?

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, I can't confirm that there are stranded assets at this point.

I mean, that's all based on a determination of whether or not the plant we're discussing is purchased.  But if you go on the basis that that's a permanent condition, then you would have assets that aren't being used.

So there -- I mean, I guess I'm just describing a couple of scenarios.  In terms of the value of what those might be, I don't -- I don't know.  We would have to make a determination on some basis, I suppose.

Those are costs, though, that would continue to be required -- I mean, we would need to recover.  So I'm not...

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Are they costs that are -- that you are looking to recover from the large-use class?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, basically --


MR. CROCKER:  And --


MR. BASILIO:  -- quite simply, we haven't taken any costs.  There hasn't been -- within this application and the revised evidence, we haven't identified any assets that are stranded assets, as you characterize them, and sort of isolated them and made a proposal with respect to those.

What we're proposing is that the entire asset base that's in the application is the subject of allocation to our customers and recovery from our customers, based on the cost allocation; I mean, based on all the elements that go into ratemaking policy.

MR. CROCKER:  So the assets, then, that are associated with this closed plant with zero load, then, are still being paid for by the class?  And you've basically answered my question, then, if I've properly characterized it.

MR. BASILIO:  Not the class specifically.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.

MR. BASILIO:  They're in the base, the total base, that's then allocated based on the cost allocation methodology.

And I believe we'd still have an obligation to maintain those assets, to maintain the connection, on the basis that -- I mean, that, you know, the plant could be purchased in the future or have some use in the future.

Those assets still require maintenance.

MR. CROCKER:  Any return on those assets?  What about a return on those assets?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  Again, we haven't isolated these assets in the application.  The assets attributed to the facility in question haven't been isolated anywhere in the application.

They form part of the general rate base on which we're seeking recovery, including our cost of capital.  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's move on to your -- I'll just check with the Board on scheduling.

The only area I want to cover is this variance account, and I'm in your hands as to when you --


MS. HARE:  How long do you think you'll be?

MR. CROCKER:  Always in cross-examination, it's not my -- the length of time is not caused by the question, but rather the answer.

MS. HARE:  So then why don't we take our afternoon break now, and come back at 3:15?  Okay?

Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:21 p.m.


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Crocker.


MR. CROCKER:  One last area I'd like to canvass with the panel, and that's the proposed variance account.


I was a bit surprised by Mr. Basilio's answer before the break, in light of the earlier comment about -- in answer to the long give and take with Mr. Buonaguro about the way in which you are asking the Board to deal with that account.  And let me just see if I understand it.


Are you asking that the account be set up and the way any funds are to be distributed is to be left to the next panel?  Is that the request at the moment?


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that is.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So the 50/50 split is not something the Board should -- need be worried about?


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, we had offered that it was 50/50.  What I had clarified in the exchange with Mr. Buonaguro was that whether that should go to a single class or across all customer classes, we're in the Board's hands and perhaps a future panel's hands when disposition of this variance account is sought.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So that is, once again, a little different than I thought it was at the end of Mr. Buonaguro's cross-examination.


Just in case the Board wishes to deal with whether it should be a 50/50 split, let me canvass that a little bit, and then we can let it go.


Whether or not there are any funds to distribute is out of your control.  Horizon has nothing -- no influence on that, does it?


MR. BASILIO:  Maybe we can just back up just a little.  I think it's important, just to make sure we understand the context of the proposal.


Just to be clear, if we could take ourselves back to August now when we were filing this application, with the information that accumulated since that time with respect to the subject customers in question, we would have filed a load forecast as we filed in the revised evidence.


And on that basis, it's unlikely we would have provided any sort of variance account proposal at that time.  I think what we've recognized at this point in time there is obviously uncertainty with respect to loads.  And so what we thought was a customer-friendly approach with respect to this, because it is unusual - I'm not aware of this being done before - is we're just looking to recover our revenue requirement.


To the extent that we recover more than that with respect to these two, recognizing that there is some uncertainty here, we thought it was equitable to offer some of that back to our customers.


Generally speaking, I don't think that's typically -- I'm not aware of a similar approach.  So that was a proposal, 50/50.  50/50 is somewhat arbitrary, admittedly, but we thought that, you know, that was a starting point or a proposal that was equitable.


On the second piece, so let's say at the end of the day -- and I think maybe the easiest way to bell this is to take a dollar example.  Let's say in this variance account, at the end of 2014, there's $100,000.  50,000 of that would be for the account of the utility, 50,000 of that would be for customers, generally speaking.


I think what we're proposing at this point in time is that that bucket that's for customers generally speaking, the disposition of that and how that gets back to customers, how the determination of equity in terms of how that $50,000 moves back to customers, would be the subject of a future disposition for a future Panel.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Let me just canvass that with you a little bit more.


Assuming, even though you are forecasting no load, that the variance account makes some sense and that there will be $100,000 in that account in 2014.  Can you explain to me why, equitably, the $100,000 should not be distributed to your customers, regardless of what class?


I'd suggest it should go to the large user class, but regardless of that, and your return comes on your return on equity, explain to me why that's not fair.


MR. BASILIO:  I think it's a matter of perspective, and I don't think I'll convince you on this point, but, again --


MR. CROCKER:  You shouldn't even be trying to convince me.


MR. BASILIO:  No.  But I mean, I think this is -- you know, maybe this is the subject of argument somewhat.  But, generally speaking, we still have volatility with respect to all of our revenues.  Consider the example where there's no load for any of our customers over the next four years and the only thing there is load for these two customers above the load forecast.


I mean, do you know where I'm going with that, that you're trying to balance your revenues across the board?


And so we still have risks with respect to the broader -- you know, our broader customer base.  So that was the basis of 50/50 as something equitable.  But, again, back to my original point, we thought this was customer-sensitive.  Had we had all this information back in August, we would have simply filed the load forecast we filed in revised evidence, and that would have been the end of it, subject to the ultimate determination on the appropriateness of the forecast and whatnot.


There would have been no notion of any sort of sharing at that point in time.  I think this is -- it's just we thought it was a special circumstance with respect to two customers.  We recognized some uncertainty related to those when you start to isolate things, and away just thought it was a customer-friendly approach.


But, I mean, again, there may be other perspectives on that.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have nothing further.


MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Ms. Helt.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, members of the witness panel.  I don't have many questions and some of them are at more of a high level.


The first question I have for you relates to efficiencies for smart meters.  And in our compendium of documents, which was filed on Thursday of last week, Exhibit K1.5 -- there's no need to refer it to unless you want to, but there are a few pages in there found at pages C24 to 26 which references the Board's decision and order on Horizon's smart meter funding adder application, File No. EB-2010-0292.


Specifically in that decision, at page 5 of the decision, the Board stated at the top of that page:

"The Board cannot make findings in this Decision regarding efficiencies and cost savings with respect to Horizon’s current distribution operations and capital investments which might be expected to result from deployment and operations of smart meters, associated infrastructure and TOU rates.  These costs are being considered in Horizon's 2011 Cost of Service application and the Board expects that any such efficiencies and savings will be examined in the context of that application."


In that regard, Board Staff is interested in getting some more specific information from Horizon with respect to what efficiencies it is expecting to -- that may result as a result of the deployment in operations of smart meters and associated infrastructure, as well as from time-of-use rates.


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Perhaps I can start, and I think that Ms. Campbell might contribute, as well.  But let me say this, that we've just completed or just about are complete on the residential deployment, and we are beginning to roll out our time-of-use rates.


It would be difficult to estimate the efficiencies that we'll see as a result, because we haven't had a full cycle or a full year, if you will, of time-of-use rates being in place for the customer classes.

And perhaps I can start with that.  I think that Eileen can add to that, but at this time, I would offer that we're probably in a limited position to bring forward information or data on efficiencies, as it's at this time simply too early.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

As Ms. Butany just suggested, it is early days with the time-of-use rates for us.  We are expecting to gain some back-office efficiencies, particularly around the fact that we have electronic data from the smart meters, and that we are in a position where we are no longer estimating accounts.

So the amount of estimates that Horizon had in our service territory due to older infrastructure, we had a significant number of amendments and customer contacts that needed to be done with access to meters for the regular meter reading.

So we are expecting to gain some back-office efficiencies.  But to tell you what those are today, we just don't have that information available yet.

MS. HELT:  Would you be able to provide any detail with respect to how some of the efficiencies -- which I appreciate you don't have the detail on them yet, but what you expect the efficiencies -- what impact those efficiencies may have on the cost pressures that you have documented in your application?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Some of the efficiencies, the back-office efficiencies that we're expecting to gain, in the customer services business plan you noted that there isn't any additional staff requirements.  And partly, that is due to -- we're looking to see about building some capacity within the back-office areas, which is baked into our business plans as such, even though we have taken on additional work with -- interacting with the MDM/R on a daily basis, and also with the amount of reads that we were managing previously, a bimonthly read on every account versus 24-hour data now.

So there is a significant amount of increased data that we're managing, and we're expecting to manage these -- manage this and manage the new -- also the new regulations that have come out in the collections area, without any increases to staff, is what's currently within our plan.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

A question with respect with respect to cost of capital.  In the original application, Horizon used a return on equity of 9.85 percent, and then a short-term debt rate of 2.07 percent, and Horizon has also applied for an effective date of January 1st, 2011.

Included in the compendium of Board Staff, found at pages 74 to 75, is a letter from the Board, dated November 15th, documenting the cost of capital parameters for 2011 cost-of-service applications, effective January 1, 2011.

And the letter provides an ROE of 9.66 percent and a short-term debt rate of 2.43 percent.

In your updated evidence, Horizon then does use the 9.66 percent and the short-term debt rate of 2.43 percent.

My question is:  As noted in the compendium, pages 80 to 86, the report of the Board on cost of capital for Ontario's regulated utilities, issued December 11th, 2009, the general policy's that the parameters for cost of capital are updated based on data three months in advance of the effective date of rates; given that it is now April of 2011, if the Board were to determine an effective date other than January 1, 2011, is Horizon agreeable to the parameters being updated in accordance with the Board's report?  In other words, using data three months in advance of the effective date of new rates for 2011?

MR. BASILIO:  Respectfully, I would have thought we're in the Board's hands on that point.  I wouldn't have thought our agreement was relevant, that it would just be a matter of fact that the effective date would drive the parameters.  So I'm...

MS. HELT:  No, you're quite correct that it is an issue for the Board, but with respect to what Horizon's -- would Horizon have another interpretation other than using the three-month data, another interpretation of the report of the Board?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BASILIO:  I believe we'd have the interpretation that you offered them.  I'm not sure of any justification for a different interpretation than that.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  That's fine.

Next, I would like to refer to the revenue requirement, and Board Staff has prepared a revenue requirement work form, which we would like to provide to you and have it marked as Exhibit K3.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM PREPARED BY BOARD STAFF.

MS. HELT:  I can tell you that it uses information that is on the record already.  It is different from the form that has been filed by Horizon, in that the columns are -- they contain different numbers.

The initial application, which is the first column, shows the numbers that Horizon originally filed.

There is then a column for adjustments, and then a column for close of discovery.

And it is Board Staff's request that, subject to check, Horizon review or consider this revenue requirement work form and agree that the numbers filed are, in fact, the updated numbers provided by Horizon in both its updated evidence and in some of the answers to interrogatories to date.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, we would recognize that the revenue requirement is exactly as we've set it out in the revised evidence.  And though the revenue deficiency figure differs by, subject to check, some number slightly less than $2,000, we believe that that's due to when you input the data through the revenue requirement work form, due to rounding, you end up with a slight difference, which is what we would attribute the difference between our number and the number that the Board has just distributed, the Board Staff have just distributed.

MS. HELT:  So would Horizon be prepared to use this form of -- this format for reporting in the revenue requirement work form, showing what was actually filed in the initial application as -- and then the adjustments and then the close of discovery?

And the reason I'm asking you this and putting this forward as a method of going forward is that everyone can then be on the same page with respect to ensuring the most up-to-date evidence is reflected on one document.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.  I should have noted that the rate base that's highlighted in the "Close of discovery" column is also congruent with that which we'd already highlighted.

We have no problem using this revenue requirement work form as the going-forward.

Frankly, we've experienced a little bit of challenge in working with the revenue requirement work form, which is why we didn't have an initial and then subsequent changes.

So with our apologies, this is fine.

MS. HELT:  Yeah, no need to apologize.  Just going forward, I think it would be helpful for all the parties to ensure that there's one form that represents the most up-to-date evidence.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Can we make a request?  And I don't know whether it's normal for an applicant to make a request, but could we ask to receive the soft-copy version, so that we can input into that version, the live revenue requirement work form?

MS. HELT:  Yeah, I believe it has been provided to you, but if not, we can certainly make sure you do have it.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  All right.  A question with respect to cost allocation, and the updated evidence concerning street lighting.

And you don't have to turn up any documents with respect to this question.

With reference to daisy-chain street lighting, can you confirm that Horizon owns and operates the network up to the connection point or the demarcation point of the chain, but it's the street light owner, who may often be the city or municipality, who owns and operates, is responsible for, the streetlights and the wires joining the lights in the daisy chain?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So I ready regret that Mr. Basilio had highlighted that one member of our witness panel team is here, but is not sworn in on to this panel, and that's Ms. Lerette, who would be in far better a position to answer the question, if that's permissible to the Board.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Lerette was sworn in last week.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  She was.

MS. HARE:  She's still --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  She is, and she would still be under oath.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Ms. Lerette, are you prepared to discuss this?

Kathy Lerette, Previously Sworn


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, I am.

So in our service territory we have a combination of both scenarios that you've just mentioned.  The city owns the streetlight system, but the streetlights are fed with a combination of city-owned streetlight conductor and Horizon-owned streetlight conductor.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Does Horizon do any services for the streetlight owner?

MS. LERETTE:  The only time we would work with the city's streetlight contractor is if they needed a disconnection of some kind where we've got some high-voltage equipment and the contractor needs isolation.  Other than that, we don't do any work on streetlights.

MS. HELT:  Okay, thank you.

All right.  With respect to account 1572 - I'm moving on, as you can see - Horizon has noted, in response to Board Staff Interrogatory 3(c), which I believe is at page 90 of the Board Staff's compendium, at part (c), the second sentence, Horizon states:

"Since the volatility in load and related revenue stems from the large-use customer class, Horizon submitted this customer class alone should receive the benefit of positive variances.  However, Horizon Utilities acknowledges that this is not the only approach that may be employed and that other approaches may be relevant."

Don't worry, I'm not going to ask about your approach.  That has been covered in some detail.

However, I would like to find out from you:  If Horizon rebases at its next cost of service for 2015, won't Horizon be filing some time in 2014?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  On the basis that we've sought a January 1st -- a January 1st effective date for rates - and just for argument's sake, let's assume that that continues to be the date we seek for 2015 - we would have to file by I believe it's end of April 2014.

MS. HELT:  And in that case, audited amounts for account 1572 for 2014 will not be available?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's right.  We would have balances up to December 31st, 2013.

MS. HELT:  So then it won't necessarily be possible for Horizon to dispose of the balance as proposed?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Perhaps not in full, but perhaps the consideration would have to be that that account would endure for then a subsequent clearance, sort of thinking as I go.

But you're right insofar as the audited balances would be as at December 31st, 2013.

MS. HELT:  All right, that's fine.  Thank you.

With respect to account 1592, and if you turn to the  compendium at pages 91 to 93, those pages show the response delivered by Horizon Utilities to Board Staff interrogatories questions 54 and 55.

From Board Staff Question 54, it's clear that Horizon is seeking disposition of account 1592 with a principal balance of $877,121, plus carrying costs, for a total amount for disposition of $922,956.  This is the second-to-last line of the table 9-6 on page 91 of the compendium.

In Board Staff Interrogatory Question 55, in response to part (c), Horizon has provided a table of calculations.  And this is found on page 96 of the compendium, where it shows an amount at the very bottom of the table of $1,017,175 as the principal and that the total amount for disposition, including carrying charges, equals $1,089,186.  And that number is actually noted on the top of page 97 of the compendium.

So my question is:  As the amount of $922,956 is audited, but the adjustment amount of $1,017,175 has not been audited at this time, one option could be to dispose of the $922,956 balance in this application with any adjustments, subject to being audited, being disposed of at Horizon's next cost of service rebasing application, along with other account 1592 sub-account balances.

What would Horizon's position be with respect to such an approach?

MR. BASILIO:  In fact, I mean, I should know this, but I'm 99.9 percent sure, so I'm going to say subject to check, the 1,017,000 in fact is an audited balance.  We had a post-closing adjustment to reconcile this account.  So the adjustment required was actually made in the 2010 financial information.

I think what we'd propose is that we update 1592 or that 1592 be adjusted to reflect the 1.17 million for this, if that's agreeable.  We would propose to make that adjustment as part of this -- the outcome of this application.

MS. HELT:  Do you have an update or the confirmation that the number has actually been audited?  Can you file anything?

MR. BASILIO:  I made the adjustment myself, post-closing.  Well, not -- well, pre-closing.

So that the 1,017,000 is actually part basis of our 2010 audited financial statements.  I guess I'm certifying that as the CFO.

MS. HELT:  All right.  I have no further questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Mr. Shepherd, will you need to go into camera at all?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will not.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I anticipate, Madam Chair, that I will be 10 or 15 minutes, and first I have a little piece of housekeeping.  I was trying to use this exhibit you filed today, 3.1.  And if you just look at the second-last page, this is what I was looking at when I was trying to use it.  It says "large user", but then it doesn't continue on the next page.

My impression is that this may have been -- have a printing error, or maybe it's just my copy.  But I wonder if you could take a look at what you distributed and just tell me whether it's the correct data.

MR. BROOKER:  Maybe I can help you.  It just continues from the page previous.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, if you go to the second page, it has a three-line "large user", and then the next page nothing.

MR. BROOKER:  Do you mean unmetered scattered load?  Oh.  My copy is just fine.

MS. SPOEL:  I think that the pages have been stapled together out of order.  And if you look at the third page, you'll see it starts at the top with part of a chart.  The fourth page ends with two lines, and I think maybe page 3 and page 4 have been --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but I think -- Ms. Spoel, I think that the third page --


MS. SPOEL:  Oh, no.  That continues there, residential, you're right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is actually not the full part of the residential either.

MS. SPOEL:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if I could just ask if the applicant would refile this fully printed?  Could you do that?

MR. BASILIO:  Certainly.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Happy to do so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we need an undertaking or not?

MS. HELT:  I think we should probably get an undertaking.

So there's an undertaking to refile what was filed this morning as Exhibit K3.1, "Bill impacts monthly consumptions."

MS. SPOEL:  And I notice actually at the bottom of the very first page that the residential table is cut off at the bottom.  After "HST" there's no total on our copy.

So I think it's a printing problem.  The complete tables haven't been printed out.

MS. HELT:  So that will be Undertaking J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  to REFILE FULLY PRINTED VERSION OF DOCUMENT ENTITLED:  "BILL IMPACTS MONTHLY CONSUMPTIONS."

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Now, I have, actually, some more serious questions than that, so let me start with -- Ms. Girvan asked you about the bill impacts if the deficiency is different from what you proposed.  And I understand that it's not simply a matter of a pro-rata adjustment; right?  Because the cost allocation will be different, you have to re-run things; right?

But what I would ask is -- your evidence is that the Board will give you direction.  You have a specific proposal for what you're going to do with cost allocation and rate design; right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your proposal is numbers?  It's not a step-by-step, is it?  It's:  This is where we want to end up, and it will be different if it's a different deficiency; right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yeah.  Yes, it will be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have somewhere in the evidence or can you provide us with the step-by-step you're proposing?  That is, what revenue-to-cost ratios do you want to move and how much, and in what order?  And where do you want to go with fixed charges relative to each other, and relative to the deficiency you're collecting?

That is, not numbers, because the numbers won't work anymore; I'm talking about the principles that you want to employ.

MR. BACON:  I'm asking so that I understand what you're looking for.

Are you looking for a phasing in of the revenue-to-cost ratios?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. BACON:  No?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking for, if we have a different number --


MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- how does the Board, then, give you guidance as to what revenue-to-cost ratios, for example, to go to --


MR. BACON:  Oh, I see.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if it doesn't know what you're proposing?

So can you do that?  Can you provide us with a step-by-step proposal for what you want, independent of the deficiency?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, we can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  to PROVIDE INFORMATION ON DESIRED REVENUE-TO-COST RATIOS AND FIXED CHARGES RELATIVE TO EACH OTHER AND RELATIVE TO THE DEFICIENCY COLLECTED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then my friend Mr. Crocker asked you questions on a number of areas, and just continuing on with the cost allocation rate design stuff, I wonder if we could -- well, let me ask you first.

Do you have better cost allocation data today than you did in 2008?

MR. BACON:  We have more up-to-date data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True, but that's not what I'm asking.

MR. BACON:  I know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking:  Do you have better quality data?  Do you have data that is more reliable in terms of how costs are driven by individual classes?  Do you have that?

MR. BACON:  No.  Basically, the cost allocation model that we use for 2011 is consistent with the informational filing, just it was completely updated for 2011 data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Now, I wonder if you could go to page 12 of the AMPCO compendium.

And this is revised table 7-3.  Do you have that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have proposed revenue-to-cost ratios, which are not the standard approach that is in the cost allocation report; right?

You've moved beyond that; correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to read you some numbers for each of the classes, and I want you to tell me or undertake to confirm to me that these numbers are the numbers if you just follow the plain vanilla cost allocation report.

Can you -- so let me read you the numbers.

For GS over 50, 84.9 percent.  It would stay the same.

For large-use, it would go halfway to the bottom of the range, 85, so it would be 74.5.

For sentinel lights, it would go halfway to the bottom of the range, so it would be 66.2.

For street lighting, it's already above the bottom of the range, so it would stay at 75.7.

For a USL, it would go halfway to the top of the range, so 124.9.

And standby power, standby power would stay the same at 79.

And GS less than 50 would stay at 102.7.

And whatever was left to adjust would be in residential, which would leave it at about 105 and a half.

Am I accurate there?  Or will you undertake to take those numbers and confirm that the cost allocation report will give you that set of numbers?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Subject to check, I think you're about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

And what you're proposing instead, it appears, is -- and let's leave residential aside for a second, because residential is sort of your catch-all at the end; right?  You're working on everything else, and then at the end, you're adjusting residential to make it revenue-neutral; is that right?

MR. BACON:  I believe, actually, it was the other way around.  You brought residential down first, and moved everyone up --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's right.

MR. BACON:  -- to balance, to revenue-neutrality.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  You see, now, that's interesting, because -- where did you get the 104 number there?

MR. BROOKER:  What we've stated in the evidence and what we've tried to reflect in this proposed ratio is moving closer to equity.

So we took an approach similar to what you did, where you are moving halfway to something.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mm-hmm?

MR. BROOKER:  We were moving from approximately the 110 down about halfway, to about 104.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not halfway.

MR. BROOKER:  No, I realize that.  I realize that.  But that's our movement, toward --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's two-thirds of the way; right?

MR. BROOKER:  Somewhat less than two-thirds, but yes.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where did you get the number?  Did you just pick it out of the air?  Or did you have some analysis behind it?

MR. BROOKER:  No, it was – at the time that we had the various scenarios, we –- we went halfway, from the point we were at, at one of the other points in time, from that to 100 percent.

And half of that was leaving us at 104.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's not halfway now; right?

MR. BROOKER:  No, it's not.  I understand that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So with what you're currently presenting to the Board, what's the technical -- now, "technical" is the wrong word.

What's the substantive justification for the 104 percent number?

MR. BASILIO:  There's a -- I'm not the technical person here, but as we've stated in the evidence, we're trying to move towards parity, transitionally, to deal with the issue of cross-subsidization, which for the residential class at 110 would suggest that there's more than at 105 or 104.

It's somewhat iterative, of course, and getting to these, there's a large amount of...

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I can give the --


MR. BASILIO:  Might have a better technical mind than me in terms of how we got to the exact number.  But that's the methodology.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I suppose better is debatable, but I think what we had done was we looked at the 2008 approved, and we were at 111.6 percent.

Taking that all the way to unity at 100 percent, that difference is the 11.6 percent.  Halfway to that is taking it down by 5.8.  We applied that 5.8 to what we called 2009 and '10 actual.

Now, there's not a formal cost allocation model, but taking that halfway -- sorry, I think I've just messed -- taking the 110.2 halfway, so 110.2, which was the 2011 cost allocation, minus the 5.8 percent, brings us to about 104 percent, which is how we got the 2011 proposed.

You asked what we did?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no idea what you just said, at all.  And I tried, really I tried.

So can you take it slower?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm not going to say "T-squared" but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I know what "T-squared" is.  But I don't know what you've said.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'll try again.  I'll try again.

2008 Board-approved percentage for the residential class was 111.6 percent.  So to bring that all the way to unity, 100 percent, that difference is 11.6 percent.

Do we agree to that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mm-hmm.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Halfway to that, so 11.6 divided by two, is 5.8 percent.

With me so far?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Okay.  The 2011 cost allocation presented for residential class was 110.2 percent.  Our 2011 proposed builds on that 110.2 percent, or, rather, takes away from that 110.2 percent, by that 5.8, which brings it to -- it's 104.4 when you calculate it.  But in the ebbs and flows as between the classes, when you're putting this in the cost allocation model, there's a little bit of give and take here to finally get the numbers.

And Bruce is the truly technical mind -- Mr. Bacon is the truly technical mind on this, but ultimately we were going to get the residential class to about 104.4.  When the numbers are netted through the model, we ended up with 104 percent on the residential class.

Our approach was to start with residential, not end with residential.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you were trying to give the residential customers a rate break.  They're cross-subsidizing other customers and you're trying to reduce that subsidy?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why didn't you do the same thing with USL?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The cost allocation numbers for 2011 put USL at 129 percent.  In a similar fashion -- well, we brought them down at least to the top of the range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why wouldn't you bring them down to the same as residential?  Why should they subsidize more than residential?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  As I highlighted earlier, I'm not the most technical mind on this, but we made a stepped change, or at least some change, to this class.  It isn't the whole distance, and it's not half way of the distance, but this isn't -- there wasn't necessarily a science to this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, Ms. Butany.  Your technical guy is right here.  Mr. Bacon is right here.  Maybe Mr. Bacon could tell us why this ended up the way it did.

MR. BACON:  In simple terms, we brought residential down to 104, and we brought the USL down to be within the range, as simple as that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the subsidy didn't matter as much for USL?

MR. BASILIO:  Clearly there's some discretion in cost allocation.  I think we're trying to move towards parity, generally speaking, transitionally.  There's some discretion here.  Sure it matters.  We brought them down somewhat.

And, I mean, I think that's largely the answer.  We've moved the -- we've moved the classes closer towards parity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your discretion meant that large users, for example, had a 50 percent rate increase just from cost allocation alone.  Is that how you exercised your discretion?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, respectfully, I think I responded to this in earlier questioning, that our large-use customers in our 2008 application would have expected a 95 percent allocation.  That would have been the basis for their rates and our discussions with them at the time.  Relative to 2008, they're actually getting a break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Wait a second, wait a second, wait a second.

Let's just be clear.  When we see it go from 95.2 down to 63.9, that's not a reduction in rates; right?  That's the same rates.  It's just a different calculation of the cost allocation; right?

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, I think when they came down from 95.2 to 63 point -- and, again, I'm looking at Mr. Bacon.  I think status quo ratio is reflective of loads actually achieved in the costs that they've actually been recovering.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And so the point is it's still the same rates as were approved in 2008; right?  It's not a rate reduction.  It's a revenue reduction, but not a rate reduction?

MR. BASILIO:  No, it's a revenue reduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so when it goes from 63.9 back up to 91.2, that is a rate increase, isn't it?

MR. BASILIO:  No, it's a revenue rate increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's --


MR. BASILIO:  And the rate increase -- sorry.  I interrupted.  My apologies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When it goes from the status quo ratio of 63.9 to 91.2, the only way you could do that is increase rates; right?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't believe so.  I believe if you increase revenues, it changes the ratio, in the absence of the application, because this is based on actual loads.

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so, sorry, status quo ratios are 2010 actual or 2011 proposed?

MR. BACON:  Status quo is a 2011 cost -- let me see, just to make sure.  Where are we looking here?

The status quo is coming out of the cost allocation model for 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the revenues, the total revenues in the status quo column, in the proposed column, they are the same; right?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only difference between the two is rates, isn't it?

MR. BACON:  It's a change in revenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the change in revenue only happens because of a change in rates; right?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that true?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

Let me go to fixed charges.  And. Mr. Basilio, you said in response to questions from Mr. Crocker that you believe that there should be higher fixed charges generally because your costs are generally fixed; correct?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact Horizon's made that case to the Board more than once in the past; right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board's not agreed with you, has it?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't know that we've actually ever filed rates for fully fixed, so I don't know that I can answer that -- I believe the Board has actually disagreed in a proceeding on that point with Horizon.  I don't know that we've ever proposed it in a rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you have proposed it, for example, in the cost allocation consultation, and the Board said, No, we're not going to do that; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  I think there was a proceeding in 2000 or 2001 on than point.  I mean, obviously rate design does not provide for 100 percent fixed charges, so the Board has not adopted 100 percent fixed charges.  I mean, I think that's the best way for me to answer that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board has a range, a recommended guideline range, for fixed charges, doesn't it?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're not proposing that rates be -- that fixed charges be within the range, are you?  You're proposing they should be above the range, right, for several classes?

MR. BACON:  Well, we've had this discussion before about what the range is.  I would say that the proposal is for all -- for all classes, except for large use class, is to maintain the fixed/variable split, which has been -- the Board approved that recently in the Hydro One Brampton case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you, Mr. Bacon, because I asked a question.  I'm entitled to an answer.  There is a range.  The witness has just agreed that there is a range.  And you've proposed fixed charges that are above that range, "yes" or "no"?

MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd, can I understand?  Are you asking what they proposed in the past or in this application?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, in this proceeding.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure we're still talking about this proceeding.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But, Madam Chair, if Mr. Shepherd is going to ask the question, I think the Board is entitled to the answer, so I think Mr. Bacon should be allowed to give his answer.

MS. HARE:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But, Madam Chair, I'm sorry, if I ask a direct question that has a "yes" or "no", the obligation of the witness is to give me a "yes" or "no", and then he can put whatever gloss he wants on it.  He wants to change the subject.  That's fine, but first he should answer my question.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Bacon, do you have an answer for Mr. Shepherd?

MR. BACON:  I apologize, can you ask the question again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  They're connected.

For several rate class, including GS over 50 and large user, the applicant is currently proposing fixed charges that are outside the range; yes?

MR. BACON:  The applicant is currently proposing fixed charges that are above the minimum system plus PLC number in the cost allocation model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Now, can you add the gloss that you wanted to add to it?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  "Gloss" is a bit pejorative.  I think Mr. Bacon would like to explain his answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not intended to be a pejorative, I'm sorry.  It's a common term.

MS. HARE:  Please proceed.

MR. BACON:  Thank you.  Horizon's proposal is to maintain a fixed/variable split for all classes, except for the large-use class, which you've discussed already.

And in our view, that has been accepted by the Board most recently in the Hydro One Brampton case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Let me turn to -- and I'm sorry I'm taking a little longer than I had planned, but I'm not that far away from the end, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  We have time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask you about page -- and maybe you could go to page 2 of the AMPCO materials, the compendium.

Do you have that?  Do you have that?  Yes?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I'm looking, as an example, at the "large-use" line, and the number that is the billing determinants is the kilowatt number; right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the one that matters for revenue purposes; right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you look at the actuals for the four years, what I see -- and tell me whether I'm right -- is that in one -- compared to the median for those years, one year you're 20 percent over, a couple of years you're 12 percent under, but within that range, you're going back and forth.

Is that right?  The four -- you have four years of actuals here.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  All years are under the Board-approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what I asked.  I asked the median.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Oh, the median.  I haven't completed the median.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Isn't that one of the things you do when you try to figure out your level of volatility, is figure out how it's varying relative to the median?

MR. BASILIO:  No, I think I'd be looking to the Board-approved as the basis for what I'm expecting, and I would measure volatility off of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But volatility is changes from a norm, isn't it?

MR. BASILIO:  The norm we're expecting through the IRM period is the load underlying our forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that's not really volatility, that's low load.  That's a reduction in load, a permanent reduction in load; right?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't know.  Volatility is a deviation from a base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Let me ask you about your variance account, and to do that I'm going to go to page 8 of the AMPCO materials -- thank you, Mr. Crocker, for this material.  Saved me from doing it.

MR. CROCKER:  No charge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Everybody heard him?  He said "no charge"?

MS. HARE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just checking.

Your variance account proposal is for two customers; right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not going to use the names, but I understand that the two customers are the customer listed on lines 1 and 2, and the customer listed on the second-last line?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  It's the customer on the second line from the top.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The customer on the third line from the bottom, or second line above the total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

So it's not actually your biggest customers.  It's just the ones you had the biggest problem with recently, in terms of a loss of load?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  It's in response to publicly-available information on events that are happening with these two particular customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the proposal is for those two customers alone, because you're forecasting significantly lower than their load had been in the past; right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the proposal is that for those two customers, if it turns out there's some recovery of that load beyond what you're currently expecting -– now, you're not proposing to give it back to the ratepayers, you're proposing to share it with the ratepayers, 50/50; right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  We continue to bear a credit risk with respect to these customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  So we do continue to have significant risks.  We're also not proposing that any downside, if we realize credit risk -- of course, that's ours.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were asked by Mr. Crocker about stranded assets, and so I have two brief questions on that.

The first is if you go to page 19 of the materials, the AMPCO materials, this is your updated set of numbers for costs and rate base allocated to the large-user class; right?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the number at the bottom, $35 million of rate base allocated to that class, you have 12 customers, so that's about $3 million each; right?

MR. BASILIO:  As an average.  I think that's oversimplifying the costs that would attribute to any one customer, though, in the class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm getting to the details in a second.

Now, of that total, some of it is specific to customers; right?  It's assets that are serving a particular customer?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was just the set-up question.  I thought it was pretty straightforward.

MR. BACON:  There's no direct allocation of costs to customers in the cost allocation model that supports this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But it's also true, isn't it, that there are some assets that directly serve each of these 12 customers?  True?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, at least theoretically, some of that 35 million is those assets; right?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the rest of it is that class' share of all of the assets; right?  Again, conceptually?

MR. BACON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do we have an idea of the value of the assets that directly serve those customers?

MR. BACON:  No.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No idea?

MR. BACON:  We didn't do any direct -- in order to do that, we would you would typically do a direct allocation study in your cost allocation study.

We did not do that, so we don't know that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, but most utilities try to have a good sense of what assets they're using for the big customers, particularly if you have a lot of large users.

This is an important thing for you to know; right?

MR. BASILIO:  If we may, we have our vice-president of utility operations here, who is in the best position to answer those questions.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Lerette?

MS. LERETTE:  So sorry, can you just repeat the question for me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have certain assets that directly serve your large users, and you know which ones they are; right?

MS. LERETTE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have an estimate of how much -- what the value of those is?  Is it bigger than a bread box, is what I'm trying to get at, a million, 10 million, 100 million?

MS. LERETTE:  I couldn't guess off the top of my head what that number is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?

MS. LERETTE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You've been doing an IFRS study, Mr. Basilio?  Or several, I guess, IFRS studies; right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the things you have to do is you have to have better information on your individual assets; right?  It's one of the things IFRS requires of you?

MR. BASILIO:  If you could be specific?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Better information -- well, information in the studies, and there are a number here involved in those.  But certainly --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not allowed to use pooling, for example?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have to have much more specific information on individual assets; right?

MR. BASILIO:  On individual categories of assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that if an asset is stranded, you have to take it out of service; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  If you have stranded assets within the definition of what that is, I believe they need to be identified separately, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the question I asked.  If you have assets that used to serve customer number 2 on page 8, and don't today - they're not serving that customer, they're not serving anybody right now - under IFRS, tell me whether this is correct:  You must a remove that from your capital assets, your PP&E, you must remove the accumulated appreciation and not treat them as fixed assets anymore; correct?


MR. BASILIO:  I don't believe that's different from Canadian GAAP, actually, but they're revenue-generating assets.  I don't have a specific answer, but I think if an asset is a revenue-generating asset, it is not a stranded asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah-hah.  So as long as this Board allows you to leave it in rate base, then you don't have to follow IFRS and move it out of your PP&E; is that right?


MR. BASILIO:  I believe that's correct, but we continue to have obligations with respect to servicing those assets irrespective of the fact that there may not be a customer at the other end.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And my last question is in follow-up to a question by Ms. Helt.  You were asked about the efficiencies that arise out of smart meters and time-of-use rates.


Do I take it from your answer that you have nothing in your test year revenue requirement reflecting any efficiencies from those activities?  We saw that you have increased costs from some of it, right, meter expense, for example, but do you have any efficiencies built into your test year revenue requirement?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. CAMPBELL:  So, as I had indicated, it is early days with the smart meters and with TOU.  However, some of the efficiencies that we're anticipating, we have put them into our business plans, and there's little variance within the customer services OM&A costs within the -- when you review those costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how much are we talking about?  Just give me a ballpark.  Is it a big number or a little number?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I would say at this point it's a little number currently.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Like 50,000, like that?


MS. CAMPBELL:  It wouldn't be any more than 50,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, those are our questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The Board Panel does have a few questions, Ms. Taylor.

Questions by the Board:


MS. TAYLOR:  This question is for Ms. Butany-DeSouza, and it relates to the issue of structure, structural change that you discussed with Mr. Crocker and that you referred to in our discussion, I think, of two days ago.


You made a reference to cost allocation and rate design as structural responses to, I guess, structural issues within the revenue and your customer base.  And I'd like to make sure that we're not at cross-purposes on this point.


So can you please confirm for me that the structural response to which I referred in my question to you a few days ago related to the cost structure of the utility, broadly defined, and not just the allocation of those costs through rate design?


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  That was it.


MS. HARE:  I have just a few questions.  Exhibit 3.1 that you filed this morning, I see that for the smart meter rider, you're still showing $1.56.  Is that just an oversight that you didn't pick up the $2.14?


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. HARE:  So when you refile this with all the pages, would you be able to change that and show the bill impact?


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


The second question is:  Mr. Bacon, what was your role in the cost allocation study?  Did you do an independent study, or were you part of the team working on cost allocation?


MR. BACON:  I led the team on cost allocation.


MS. HARE:  So the recommendations to us, as the discussion went on with Mr. Crocker and Mr. Shepherd, were those your recommendations as to range or was that the team's recommendation?


MR. BACON:  That was the company's recommendation.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


My last question is what we've talked a lot about it, but I just want to make sure, account 1572.  And, Mr. Basilio, I think you already gave this answer in response to Mr. Shepherd.


I was wondering if this variance account or deferral account is asymmetrical.  In other words, you're only sharing the upside, but if it should happen that the volumes from those two customers are actually lower, you would not record that in the account; is that correct?


MR. BASILIO:  That would be for the account of the utility alone.  No, it would not be recorded in the account.  That would be something that the utility would suffer.


MS. HARE:  And what would happen if one of the other customers that you didn't have a concern with shut down?  You had indicated it's just those two customers, so you will then not be coming back to the Board and asking for that customer to be included?


MR. BASILIO:  No, that's not our proposal.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Mr. Sidlofsky, any re-direct?

Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you. Madam Chair.  Just a couple of questions, and perhaps I could direct this to Ms. Lerette.


Ms. Lerette, you will recall that there were some questions about stranded assets.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Basilio had mentioned that assets would still have to be maintained even after the consumer had shut down; correct?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you agree with that?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, I do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you have a sense of how long it would take before you knew whether the assets were stranded?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, we would have to be directed by either a new owner or the plant being demolished and someone asking us to remove those assets before we would go forward and remove them.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what would you have to do until then?


MS. LERETTE:  We would leave them as they are.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in leaving them as they are, what would you have to do with them?  Would there be maintenance involved?


MS. LERETTE:  We would have to do our regular plant inspection.  We are required to inspect our plant, one-third of our plant, every year.  So we would do that, and we would continue to do our annual maintenance on manholes and vaults, which most of these cables are underground, so we would do those inspections on a regular basis.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thank you.


And, Mr. Basilio, my friend Mr. Shepherd had asked about efficiencies built into 2011 test year requirement.


MR. BASILIO:  Right.  So I think I gave earlier testimony on that point with reference to the manager's summary and with an admission that we don't track in detail total factor productivities, as I think it is most commonly referred to.  But noting that our ask is far -- is 2 point -- our ask in terms of OM&A is 8 million relative to the 2008 application, if you take an estimate of inflation, the impact of head count on operating, and the initiatives that we've provided for in the application, they aggregate 10.4 million.  We're asking for eight.


We've taken 2.4 out of the costs structure - again, these are off the top of my head - which equates to about 90 basis points per year off of our 2008 revenue requirement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I don't know whether Mr. Sidlofsky is going to go on on this point, but I didn't ask about efficiencies.  I only asked about smart meters and time of use, and that was not responsive to that and, therefore, is not proper reply, in my submission.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  That was my only question on that.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.


If I can just beg your indulgence for a moment.  Sorry.


Just to you, Mr. Basilio, I just want to make sure your answer to the Chair's question was clear.  She asked a question about what would happen if another large-volume customer suffered load losses and whether that would be at the -- I'm paraphrasing here but --


MS. HARE:  Yeah, the question was really redundant once it was established that it's only the upside.



MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.  So, Mr. Basilio, other customer failures are totally at the risk of the utility; is that right, in your proposal?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Thank you, witnesses.  You're excused.

MR. BASILIO:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  The Board is still reserving Thursday morning for the opportunity of any party to ask questions - am I not on?  Can you hear me?  I'll try this one.

The Board is still reserving Thursday morning to provide the opportunity for any party that has questions on the undertaking responses.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  I apologize, but would it be possible to direct one more question to Mr. Basilio?

MS. HARE:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I do apologize for that.

I just want to -- I should have been clearer in my last question, Mr. Basilio, when I made a comment about the -- or asked my question about the risk to the utility.

Would you -- if you were facing significant losses or material losses, would you consider a Z-factor application or an application to the Board for some other form of relief?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So the --


MR. BASILIO:  If they were material.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So the suggestion that you've made that if another customer were to fail, that wouldn't be booked to the variance account, are you suggesting that you wouldn't -- that you might not take other recourse for relief in that case?

MR. BASILIO:  Well --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, is that straying from the question?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well --


MS. HARE:  I think the question was really:  Would it go to the variance account, whether it is up from another customer or down from another customer?

And the answer was:  No, it would have nothing to do with this account that's being requested.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Madam Chair, I didn't want to leave the impression that I had put words into Mr. Basilio's mouth, that there was no other chance for seeking relief in the event of a failure.

MS. HARE:  Yeah.  I think that's fine.
Procedural Matters:


MS. HARE:  Okay.  I'll try again for Thursday.

To know whether or not any party does want the opportunity to ask questions, of course, we'll all have to see the undertaking responses first.  Hopefully, those will be filed -- tomorrow, do you expect, Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, we've provided a new version of Undertaking J2.6, which leaves a limited number of undertakings outstanding.

I'm advised that the remainder -- today's undertakings should be available by Wednesday, and the remainder of the outstanding undertakings from days 1 and 2 should be available by Wednesday morning.

Perhaps Mr. Basilio could comment on that.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. BASILIO:  Wednesday morning.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps, in order to just note on the record, the outstanding undertakings are J1.1, J1.9, J2.4, and then all of the undertakings from today.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

I'd ask all parties, then, to indicate to Ms. Helt, at the latest, Wednesday at noon whether or not there is an interest in asking questions.

Mr. Shepherd, you look puzzled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I think we were just advised that sometime on Wednesday, we'll get these.

So Wednesday at noon, we may not even have them.

MS. HARE:  Well, I heard Wednesday morning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For only the three that were outstanding from last week.  Isn't that right?

MS. HARE:  I don't want to put you under pressure to come up with an estimate that then is not realistic.

Why don't we leave it with -- the overall idea is that we want to know as soon as possible if Thursday is a go or not.  And you, of course, will want to know which interrogatories or undertakings people want to pursue to know who you need to bring on the panel.  So I'll leave it to Ms. Helt to canvass around.  With the ones that have been sent around so far, maybe you can indicate sort of in two stages.

So if we need to meet Thursday, we'll meet Thursday at 9:30.  If there's no interest in pursuing the undertakings any further, then today is the last day of the hearing, in which case, Ms. Helt, I think, has developed a schedule for submissions.

I just wanted to also remind parties there are two questions that didn't get much discussion that we would like to see addressed in submissions.

The first is the change in rate year to January 1.

And the second one is the effective date of the rates.

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, I have had some discussion with Mr. Sidlofsky with respect to filing the argument-in-chief, and I have not had an opportunity to canvass all of the intervenors.  However, this is what I would propose.

The argument-in-chief would be filed Thursday, April the 21st, the intervenor and Board Staff submissions Thursday, May 5th, and any reply to be filed Thursday, May the 12th.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I keep piping in, I'm sorry.

The Board has established a fairly constant practice of having Board Staff argument two or three days ahead of intervenor argument.  And we generally find that's very helpful in allowing Board Staff to canvass things that we can then just say:  Yeah, they're right.

I wonder if that's possible in this case.


MS. HELT:  Just a moment.

Perhaps what we can propose is that Board Staff submission would be due on Monday, May the 3rd, the intervenor submission Friday, May the 7th, and the reply Friday, May 13th.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have those as wrong.  I have Monday, it being May 2nd and Friday being May 6th.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  So then it would be Monday -- I'm sorry, then Monday, May 2nd for Board Staff submissions, Friday, May 6th for intervenor submissions, and Friday, May 13th for reply.

MS. HARE:  Any other comments about that schedule?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  Madam Chair, when I was speaking with Ms. Helt, I was suggesting that the utility shouldn't have any less time than the intervenors do for their submissions, and a week seems quite a bit shorter than what the intervenors have been allowed.

MS. HELT:  Oh, Mr. Sidlofsky, I apologize.  My understanding was that you said the Thursday before Good Friday.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I was speaking about reply.  The Thursday before Good Friday is fine for argument-in-chief.

MS. HELT:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MS. HARE:  So it's between the 6th and the 13th.

MS. HELT:  Well, the 13th or the 20th, then, I guess is what you're saying?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yeah.

MS. HELT:  For reply?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  Well, I would put forward the 13th as the date for reply.

MS. HARE:  What if we made it Monday the 16th?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That would be fine, I believe.

I believe CAMPUT is on then.  It does start on the Sunday, which I had anticipated being at, but I appreciate that the Board wants to conclude this, as well.

So I would have suggested the 20th, but if that's too far out for the Board...

MS. HARE:  Well, we're very concerned about how long this case has taken already.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  Understood.  Then we'll -- could we say the Tuesday, then?  The --


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Let's make it the Tuesday.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The 17th?  Is that right?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah.  That's right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Which -- and I'm not quite sure how that works out in terms of numbers, but that seems fine, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Are there any other matters to be raised?

Okay.  Well, thank you very much to all the witnesses.  And if there are submissions in terms of the undertakings, then we'll meet on Thursday.

Otherwise, we're adjourned.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:42 p.m.
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